AN EVALUATION OF THE FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE THE AMOUNT OF TIME AND PLACE OF SERVICE PROVISION IN THE SCHOOLS

By

©2009

Jayne Brandel

B.A., University of Kansas, 1997 M.A., University of Kansas, 1999

Submitted to the Department of Speech-Language-Hearing: Sciences and Disorders and the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Kansas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Diane Frome Loeb, Chairperson

Debora Daniels

Diane Nielsen

Holly L. Storkel

Betty Bunce

Date Defended April 21, 2009

The Dissertation Committee for Jayne Brandel certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation

AN EVALUATION OF THE FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE THE AMOUNT OF TIME AND PLACE OF SERVICE PROVISION IN THE SCHOOLS

Diane Frome Loeb, Chairperson

Date approved: <u>April 27, 2009</u>

Acknowledgements

It would be impossible for me to extend my gratitude to all of the people who have assisted me throughout my doctoral education. Most importantly though, I wish to thank Dr. Diane Frome Loeb. She has provided me an immense amount of guidance and support throughout the completion of this study. She has provided me a gold standard as to what it means to balance a career as a premier researcher with the joy and often times challenging responsibilities as a mother. Drs. Debora Daniels and Diane Nielsen have provided valuable input and support not only with the current project but also throughout my PhD program so that I could expand my knowledge and skills as a professional. I also want to thank Drs. Holly Storkel and Betty Bunce who agreed to participate on my committee and supplied invaluable suggestions to improve the quality of the current project.

In addition to the support of my committee members, I also want to acknowledge the support of Dr. Marc Fey. Dr. Fey provided me the invaluable opportunity to work in his lab and learn from both him and his students. Shelley Bredin-Oja has provided me with encouragement and advice throughout my doctoral program. I would also like to thank Jennifer Knell for the assistance which she provided on the current project. Other doctoral students, Mindy Bridges, Stephanie Becker, and Beverly Zimmer have been invaluable friends giving words of encouragement when needed.

Most importantly, I want to express my gratitude to my family. Without question, I am indebted to my husband, Michael, for his unconditional support. He

iii

has provided me with the time, assistance, and love to complete the entire PhD program. He and my children (Tabitha, Jessica, Donald, Annika and Sophia) have all been patient, loving and understanding. My completion of this project is as much an accomplishment of theirs as it is mine.

In regards to the current study, I want to thank all of the Speech-Language Pathologists who took the time to complete my survey. Without their participation, I would not have been able to complete the study.

I am immensely grateful to everyone who has supported me throughout my doctoral program. Their support has provided me the opportunity to grow as a professional.

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to examine factors impacting the amount of time and place school-based Speech-Language Pathologists (SLPs) provided speech and language intervention. A national survey completed by 1,897 school SLPs indicated that students with severe and moderate disabilities participated in intervention 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes in groups outside the classroom. Students with the least severe disability were provided therapy once a week for 20-30 minutes in groups outside the classroom. Analysis using multinomial logistic regression indicated the amount of time was impacted by the SLP's caseload size, their year of graduation and the number of years worked in the schools. For place, the SLP's caseload size and clinical training experiences influenced their selection. These findings suggest that workplace and SLP characteristics impact SLP decisions; whereas, child characteristics did not differentiate time and place of services. Implications for training programs and future research are discussed.

Acceptance Pageii
Acknowledgementsiii
Abstractv
Table of Contents
List of Tablesix
List of Figures xiii
Chapter 1: Introduction
A Model of SLP Decision Making for Service Delivery
Child Characteristics
Workplace Characteristics
SLP Characteristics10
SLP Characteristics 10 Current SLP Practice in the Schools 13
SLP Characteristics 10 Current SLP Practice in the Schools 13 Research Evaluating Service Delivery 15
SLP Characteristics 10 Current SLP Practice in the Schools 13 Research Evaluating Service Delivery 15 Rationale and Research Questions 17
SLP Characteristics 10 Current SLP Practice in the Schools 13 Research Evaluating Service Delivery 15 Rationale and Research Questions 17 Predictions 19
SLP Characteristics 10 Current SLP Practice in the Schools 13 Research Evaluating Service Delivery 15 Rationale and Research Questions 17 Predictions 19 Chapter 2: Method 20
SLP Characteristics10Current SLP Practice in the Schools13Research Evaluating Service Delivery15Rationale and Research Questions17Predictions19Chapter 2: Method20Participants20
SLP Characteristics10Current SLP Practice in the Schools13Research Evaluating Service Delivery15Rationale and Research Questions17Predictions19Chapter 2: Method20Participants20SLP Characteristics21
SLP Characteristics10Current SLP Practice in the Schools13Research Evaluating Service Delivery15Rationale and Research Questions17Predictions19Chapter 2: Method20Participants20SLP Characteristics21Workplace Characteristics24

Table of Contents

Development of Questionnaire	32
Focus Group	33
Pilot Study	34
Questionnaire Validity	46
Chapter 3: Results	49
Research Question 1: SLP Perception	49
Research Question 2: Child Factors and Time and Place of Services	55
Time by Grade	55
Time by Disability	58
Place by Grade	61
Place by Disability	64
Follow-up Email Interview	67
Research Question 3: Workplace and SLP Factors and Time and Place of Services	70
Service Delivery by Grade	76
Service Delivery in Regards to Disability	93
Summary of Results	109
Chapter 4: Discussion	111
Limitations	118
Future Research	119
References	122

Appendix A	
Appendix B	
Appendix C	
Appendix D	

List of Tables

Table 1 SLP Characteristics	21
Table 2 SLP Characteristics: Full-time versus Part-time	22
Table 3 SLP Characteristics: Supervision of School-based SLP	22
Table 4 SLP Characteristics: SLP Training	23
Table 5 SLP Characteristics: SLP Interaction with Classroom Teachers	24
Table 6 Number of SLP Responses to Survey by State	26
Table 7 Workplace Characteristics: School Demographics	27
Table 8 Workplace Characteristics: Title I School	27
Table 9 Workplace Characteristics: Students on SLP Caseload by Grade Level	28
Table 10 Workplace Characteristics: Average Number of Students Seen in Varyi Service Delivery Models.	ng 29
Table 11 Workplace Characteristics: Average House Spent on Workload Activiti	ies.29
Table 12 Workplace Characteristics: Tier II Activities	30
Table 13 Workplace Characteristics: Teaming Model Used	31
Table 14 Workplace Characteristics: SLP Decision-Making Process for Service Delivery.	31
Table 15 Workplace Characteristics: Administrative Support	31
Table 16 Itemization of Final Questionnaire in Regards to SIDM Model	37
Table 17 Considerations for Time: Child Characteristics	50
Table 18 Considerations for Time: Workplace Characteristics	50
Table 19 Considerations for Time: SLP Characteristics	51

Table 20 Considerations for Time: Combined Child, Workplace, and SLP Characteristics	.52
Table 21 Considerations for Place: Child Characteristics	.53
Table 22 Considerations for Place: Workplace Characteristics	.53
Table 23 Considerations for Place: SLP Characteristics	.54
Table 24 Considerations for Place Combined Child, Workplace, and SLP Characteristics	55
Table 25 Independent Variables for Analyses Related to the Amount of Time that SLPs Provide Services	74
Table 26 Independent Variables for Analyses Related to the Place that SLPs Provid Services	le 75
Table 27 Full Model Fitting Intervention: Most Severe Grade for Time	.77
Table 28 Likelihood Ratio Tests: Most Severe Grade for Time	.78
Table 29 Parameter Estimates: Child with Most Severe Disability in a Grade for Time	.80
Table 30 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Most Severe Disability in a Grade for Place	81
Table 31 Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Most Severe Disability in a Grade for Place	82
Table 32 Parameter Estimates: Child with Most Severe Disability in a Grade for Place	82
Table 33 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Moderate Disability in a Grad for Time	1e 83
Table 34 Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Moderate Disability in a Grade for Time	84
Table 35 Parameter Estimates: Child with Moderate Disability in Grade for Time	.85
Table 36 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Moderate Disability in a Grac for Place	1e 87

Table 37 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Least Severe Disability in a Grade for Time
Table 38 Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Least Severe Disability in Grade for Time
Table 39 Parameter Estimates: Child with Least Severe Disability in a Grade for Time
Table 40 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Least Severe Disability in a Grade for Place
Table 41 Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Least Severe Disability in a Grade for Place
Table 42 Parameter Estimates: Child with Least Severe Disability in a Grade for Place
Table 43 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Most Severe Disability for Time
Table 44 Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Severe Disability for Time
Table 45 Parameter Estimates: Child with Most Severe Disability for Time
Table 46 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Most Severe Disability for Place
Table 47 Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Most Severe Disability for Place98
Table 48 Parameter Estimates: Child with Most Severe Disability for Place
Table 49 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Moderate Disability for Time
Table 50 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Moderate Disability for Place 102
Table 51 Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Moderate Disability for Place104
Table 52 Parameter Estimates: Child with Moderate Disability for Place

Table 53 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Least Severe Disability for Time	106
Table 54 Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Least Severe Disability for Time	107
Table 55 Parameter Estimates: Child with Least Severe Disability for Time	107
Table 56 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Least Severe Disability for Place	108
Table 57 Summary of Results	110

List of Figures

Figure 1 School-based Intervention Decision Making Model (SIDM)	12
Figure 2 Time: Most Severe by Grade	56
Figure 3 Time: Moderate Severity by Grade	57
Figure 4 Time: Least Severe by Grade	58
Figure 5 Time: Most Severe	59
Figure 6 Time: Moderate Severity	60
Figure 7 Time: Least Severe	61
Figure 8 Place: Most Severe by Grade	62
Figure 9 Place: Moderate Severity by Grade	63
Figure 10 Place: Least Severe by Grade	64
Figure 11 Place: Most Severe	65
Figure 12 Place: Moderate Severity	66
Figure 13 Place: Least Severe	67
Figure 14 Workplace Variables Included for Analysis	71
Figure 15 SLP Variables Included for Analysis	73

Introduction

For each child on his/her caseload, the school-based speech-language pathologist (SLP) makes a recommendation as to where and how often that child should receive services. In recent years, there has been an increased emphasis from both federal legislation and the American Speech-Language Hearing Association (ASHA) for SLPs to utilize research when making decisions regarding intervention, including the frequency and place for these services within the public schools (ASHA, 2005; IDEA, 2004; NCLB, 2001). Unfortunately, there is little data to guide SLPs in their decision-making. The need for more information regarding the intensity, duration, and place for speech and language interventions has been noted by multiple researchers (Cirrin & Gillam, 2008; McCauley & Fey, 2006; Warren, Fey, & Yoder, 2007).

There are data that exist which document the current state of practice with respect to intensity, duration, and place of intervention provided by SLPs in the schools. With respect to place of intervention, according to the Schools Survey (ASHA, 2008) 69% of intervention provided in the schools was provided outside of the classroom. The 2006 ASHA School Survey found that the majority of intervention was conducted in small groups. The ASHA National Outcomes Measures (NOMS) data indicated that an even higher number of children are seen for therapy outside of the classroom setting. According to the NOMS data, 92% of services were delivered outside of the classroom (ASHA, 2002b). With respect to the amount of time for intervention, two-thirds of the students were reported to receive

intervention two times a week for 21-30 minutes (ASHA, 2002b). The findings of these studies would indicate that there is little variation in the amount of time and the place where speech and language services are provided within the schools. The purpose of this study is to examine the factors that impact the decisions that SLPs make regarding the place and time for the delivery of speech and language intervention in the public schools. The literature review will be divided into the following sections: (1) factors that might be considered when determining a service delivery model will be described that include child characteristics, workplace characteristics, and SLP characteristics; (2) a description of current SLP practices in the schools; (3) research evaluating the impact of variations in the amount of place and time of intervention services; and (4) rationale for the study and the research questions.

A Model of SLP Decision Making for Service Delivery

There are several possible factors that influence the SLP's decision regarding the recommendation of the place and amount of therapy. In this section, three factors that may influence the decision making of SLPs will be described. These are: child, workplace, and SLP characteristics.

Child Characteristics

According to ASHA (2000), no single service delivery model should be utilized for speech and language services within a school setting. ASHA defines service delivery as three elements: nature (direct versus indirect), type (individual versus group) and location. Paul (2007) incorporates these components as well as

including the amount of time students participate in intervention when defining service delivery. The amount of time, the place, and the type of intervention in which a child participates should be determined by the child's needs (ASHA, 2000). In addition, these determinations should be "based on the need to provide a free, appropriate public education for each student in the least-restrictive environment" (p. 32). More specifically, ASHA (2000) recommends the following considerations be taken into account when making decisions regarding the type, place and amount of intervention a child will receive in the schools.

- 1. The child's strengths, needs, and emerging abilities.
- 2. The need for peer modeling.
- 3. The child's communication needs in relation to his/her general education curriculum.
- 4. The nature and severity of the child's disorder.
- 5. The motivation and attitude of the child.
- 6. The child's age and developmental level.

The latter six factors focus on the child and the child's needs and diagnosis. These factors (as described in Appendix A) are consistent with ASHA's recommendation and IDEA's 2004 mandate that an array of speech, language and hearing services be available for children within the public school setting.

Workplace Characteristics

Workplace characteristics may also influence the type of service delivery a child receives. Workload size, caseload size, administrative support, and team input are all components of the workplace and can all influence an SLP's decision-making. ASHA (2002a) defines workload as including all activities that an SLP completes as part of the job. These duties include direct intervention to students as well as

meetings, paperwork, professional development, and other requirements needed to provide the necessary supports so that students can be successful. In contrast, an SLP's caseload includes the direct and indirect services provided for students that the SLP has on an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) or Individual Family Service Plan (IFSP) (ASHA, 2002a). Both the caseload and workload size of a school SLP has been shown to impact the type of service delivery utilized (ASHA, 2000; ASHA, 2006; Dowden, Alarcon, Vollan, Cumley, Kuehn, & Amtmann, 2006). Data concerning the impact of workplace factors has been reported by ASHA in the 2006 Schools Survey. The survey consisted of 34 questions covering six main categories: ASHA Services and Programs, Workforce, Employment, Caseload, Bilingual Services, and Demographics. Within the caseload section, SLPs were asked to report general information regarding the number of students on their caseload, the number of students with a specified disability, and the number of hours they work each week providing services in varying environments. Additionally, they were to provide information regarding the number of individual versus group intervention sessions conducted each month. No information was gathered regarding the SLP's place for delivering services or how often students participated in speech and language intervention. Of the 4,140 surveys that were randomly distributed to ASHA members working in the schools, 2,561 surveys (64.9% response rate) were returned and included in the summary. The findings indicated that, on average, SLPs had a caseload of 50 children.

More recently, the 2008 ASHA Schools Survey was published which also evaluated current practices within the public schools. This 34 question survey evaluated eight categories: ASHA Services and Programs, Workforce, Employment and Earnings, Caseload, Bilingual Services, Private Practice, Ethics and Demographics. Questions exploring the method used to determine their caseload size, their average caseload size, number of students with a specified disability, the severity of the students' disabilities, the place where intervention is provided, and the amount of time the SLPs spend on intervention and other activities were asked within the caseload section of the survey. This new survey did not have questions inquiring about the use of individual versus group intervention as well as the amount of time students participated in intervention. ASHA mailed 4,130 surveys. Of these, 133 were not completed due to incorrect mailing addresses or other reasons making the potential participants ineligible. Therefore, from a pool of 3,977 surveys, 2,556 (64% response rate) were returned and included in the analyses. The average caseload was found to be 50 and ranged from 2 to 290. By state, the average caseload size varied from 75 in Indiana to 33 in North Dakota. Twenty-two of the 35 hours spent providing intervention on average each week employed a traditional out-of-theclassroom intervention.

There has only been one study that has evaluated the relationship between SLP caseload size and service delivery decisions. Dowden, Alarcon, Vollan, Cumley, Kuehn, and Amtmann (2006) asked all SLPs who were registered with the Office of the Superintendent of Public instruction in the state of Washington to complete a

survey regarding their caseload and workload. The researchers sent a survey to 984 SLPs in 2001 and a brief follow-up survey to 977 SLPs a year later. A total of 421 of the original questionnaires (43% response rate) which were sent in 2001 were returned. In comparison, 464 responses (47% response rate) were obtained on the brief follow-up sent the following year. The SLPs provided information about their caseload size, the type of intervention they provided (e.g., group versus individual), and the number of children on their caseload with a severe language disorder. The authors defined a severe language disorder as being those children on their caseload who were nonverbal. The researchers found that the average caseload was 59 students after adjusting for the SLPs' full-time equivalent status. The authors found that there was no significant difference in the size of a clinician's caseload depending on the amount of SLP experience. In addition, there was no significant difference associated with the caseload size and the number of children served with severe impairments. A significant difference was observed in relation to the amount of experience clinician's had and the number of students with severe disabilities on their caseload. Clinicians with fewer years of experience working in schools had more students with severe language disorders as compared to clinicians with more experience. In addition, a significantly greater number of group interventions were utilized by clinicians with large caseloads as compared to those with small caseloads. These findings replicate the findings of ASHA (2002b, 2006) that the type of intervention (group versus individual) in which students receive speech and language intervention is related to the size of the SLP's caseload while also providing more information regarding the

impact of caseload size and the number of children with a severe disability on a clinician's caseload. However, this study as well as the others did not evaluate other factors such as the clinician's training, professional development activities, the support of administrators, and other workload responsibilities such as pre-referral interventions.

Large caseloads as well as new legislation (IDEA, 2004; NCLB, 2001) often result in large workloads because of an increase in paperwork and planning required. In 2004, ASHA conducted a school survey of 4000 randomly selected school SLPs. A total of 2,692 surveys (69.7% response rate) were returned and included in the analysis. For SLPs working in elementary schools, 42% reported an increase in prereferral activities associated with the newly implemented response to intervention model. Forty-five percent of secondary school clinicians reported an increase in paperwork as a result of NCLB. These activities result in larger workloads for school SLPs. However, the impact of workload size on decision making has yet to be studied.

Another component within the workplace which impacts the place and amount of time a child participates in therapy would be the input of the child's school intervention team. The child's intervention team often includes persons such as the child and his/her parents, general education teacher, principal, special education teacher, speech-language pathologist as well as others. For example, the SLP's relationship with other teachers and administrators can impact where a child is seen. Depending on whom a child's classroom teacher is and the SLP's ability to develop a

collaborative relationship, a collaborative or classroom-based intervention may or may not be the best place for intervention.

The support of administrators is also a factor that can impact whether a variety of service delivery models are employed in addition to the traditional outside-of-theclassroom model that is most commonly associated with speech and language intervention (Praisner, 2003; Salisbury, 2006). Praisner (2003) surveyed principals regarding their attitude towards inclusion of students with disabilities, training, experience, and the placement of their students receiving special education services. A total of 750 surveys containing 28 questions were sent to elementary principals in Pennsylvania with 408 (return rate of 54%) being returned and included in the analysis. Of those who completed the questionnaire, 21.1% were identified as having a positive attitude toward inclusion, 76.6% had a neutral attitude and 2.7% had a negative attitude toward inclusion. The author found that principals with a more positive attitude were significantly more likely to have students participate in special education services that were more inclusive. For instance, a principal who viewed the inclusion of children within the general education classroom as being positive had more students with severe disabilities participating in the general education curriculum for a greater portion of the day. In addition, a child's disability was observed to impact the place where services were provided. Children with severe emotional disorders, autism/pervasive developmental disorder, mental retardation/developmental delay, multi-handicaps, and neurological impairments were more likely to participate in services outside of the general education classroom as

reported by the principals on the questionnaire. However, the author defined regular education placement as occurring when a child participates in 75% or more of the general education curriculum. Therefore, it is possible that children receiving only speech and language services would participate in their intervention outside of the general education classroom but be considered as having a regular education placement since greater than 75% of their day was within the general education classroom. Nonetheless, the author found that the principal's attitude toward inclusion impacted the place where children received services.

Similarly, Salisbury (2003) noted that schools with greater administrative support and commitment to intervention within the least restrictive environment were more likely to provide special education services within the general education classroom. Using a combined quantitative and qualitative approach, the author reviewed school records and interviewed eight administrators at nine different elementary schools in three different states (Missouri, Pennsylvania, and Illinois). After reviewing the school records and interviewing the principals, the researcher found that the schools that had stronger administrative support provided more children special education services within the general education classroom. Based on these few studies, there would appear to be a positive relationship between administrative support and integration of special education students into the general education classroom. In contrast to the impact of administrator support, there have been no studies to determine the relationship between school intervention teams and decisions regarding the amount of time or place that a child participates in therapy.

SLP Characteristics

SLP characteristics are a third variable that can influence service delivery decision-making. An SLP's clinical training and their relationship with co-workers may impact decisions of where intervention takes place and for how long. Zipoli and Kennedy (2005) completed a survey of SLPs and found a positive relationship between a clinician's training during the clinical fellowship year and the use of evidence-based practice. However, no studies have directly evaluated the impact of a clinician's clinical training during graduate school, their clinical fellowship year, or professional development and the choice of where and how often to provide intervention for students with speech and language delays.

Similarly, no studies have evaluated the impact of an SLP's relationship with other school personnel. However, experts such as Paul (2007) note that the clinician's relationship with other school professionals may impact decisions regarding how often and where to provide intervention. Others have also observed the process through which school professionals evolve when working together toward the common goal of providing special education services (Friend & Cook, 2007; Peña & Quinn, 2003). These experts have indicated that the stage of the relationship between two school professionals can impact their ability to work together. As a result, these professional relationships may impact the place and amount of time that a student participates in intervention.

Currently, no theory or model is available that predicts how school SLPs determine how often and where a child participates in intervention. Three factors,

child, workplace, and SLP characteristics have been presented as measures that might account for the decisions that SLPs make regarding service delivery. Figure 1 illustrates this three-part model, hereafter referred to as the School-based Intervention Decision-Making (SIDM) Model. Unfortunately, there have been no studies conducted that illuminate which factors in the SIDM Model are most and least taken into consideration. The impact of these factors on the decisions made by SLPs regarding the place and time that children participate in intervention within the school setting is important to understand in order to ensure that effective services in the least restrictive environment are being provided as mandated by IDEA (2004).



Current SLP Practice in the Schools

As stated earlier in the Introduction, the small amount of data that exists concerning SLP practices in the schools has been collected by ASHA via the NOMS and the School Survey. Results of the NOMS data published in the ASHA Workload Analysis Technical Report (2002b) found that two-thirds of students receiving speech and language services in the schools were seen twice a week. Of those seen twice a week, 75% participated in 21-30 minutes of intervention. Ninety-two percent of students received speech and language intervention outside of the classroom regardless of the child's diagnosis. However, the NOMS data did not evaluate the impact of a child's disability when reporting the findings.

In the 2006 ASHA Schools Survey, the participating SLPs were representative of the ASHA certified SLPs who work in the schools in regards to ethnicity (97% non-Hispanic), gender (97% female) and race (95% in the survey, 94% of ASHAcertified, school SLPs). The SLPs who completed the survey reported that 75% of school speech and language intervention was provided outside of the general education classroom. In addition, the majority of intervention was delivered in a group setting as opposed to individually.

In the ASHA School Survey (2008), reporting SLPs were representative of the population of ASHA-certified, school-based SLPs in regards to ethnicity (97% non-Hispanic), gender (97% female respondents on the survey versus 98% female ASHA-certified, school-based SLPs), and race (95% respondents on the survey versus 96% ASHA-certified, school-based were White). In contrast, the responding SLPs did

differ from the population of ASHA certified SLPs who work in the schools in the type of school they served. Fifty-eight percent of the respondents on the ASHA 2008 survey reported working in elementary schools as compared to 47% of the SLPs working in the schools with ASHA certification. In addition, 16% of the respondents were described as being employed in combined school settings as compared to 26% of the ASHA-certified, school-based SLPs. Lastly, the respondents were primarily service providers and had on average 17 years experience working in the schools as compared to the 10 year mean for SLPs with ASHA certification working in the schools. The reporting SLPs described 22 out of 35 hours of school speech and language intervention was provided outside of the general education classroom on average. In addition, SLPs reported the use of a caseload approach (use of only the number of students) versus a workload approach (use of number of students served.

These latter surveys suggest that there is a lack of heterogeneity of service delivery with respect to the amount of intervention and the location of intervention in the schools. The 2008 ASHA Schools Survey did not provide any information regarding the proportion of group intervention sessions as compared to individual intervention sessions. Unfortunately, the ASHA surveys do not provide insight on which of the factors in the SIDM model might be influencing SLPs to use primarily the same place and time for intervention services (i.e., outside classroom for 20-30 minutes per week). In the following section, the limited evidence evaluating the place and amount of time that intervention is provided is reviewed.

Research Evaluating Service Delivery

The study of intervention efficacy in the schools is in its infancy, with an initial focus on what types of interventions might work best. However, there are a few studies that have been conducted that have specifically evaluated service delivery options such as the best place to provide intervention or for how long. Only two studies to date have evaluated the effect of therapy place for school age children. Recent NOMS data has indicated that treatment provided in individualized settings resulted in greater functional communication gains as compared to less frequent and/or group interventions (ASHA, n.d.a). ASHA determines functional communication gains based upon a seven-point scale that is designed to evaluate the change in a child's ability to communicate by comparing pre-intervention scores for a child to post-intervention scores. These scores are determined by an ASHA certified SLP. Although NOMS is an important first step in efficacy research for the schools, the NOMS data must be interpreted cautiously. Because the NOMS data is gathered on a voluntary basis from ASHA members, it may not be reflective of the practices of the majority of SLPs. In addition, the gains reported by SLPs in NOMS were based on a qualitative scale and information was not available regarding the calibration of the reporting SLPs in regards to their use of the functional scale for reporting student gains.

A study designed to evaluate the delivery of vocabulary instruction in three different places was conducted by Throneburg, Calvert, Sturm, Paramboukas, and Paul (2000). This study compared the vocabulary growth of 177 students in

kindergarten, first, second and third grades. The children participated in one of three different intervention approaches. The first was a collaborative approach that involved both the teacher and SLP working together to plan and implement vocabulary lessons in the general education classroom. The second approach involved a classroom-based intervention model in which the SLP provided instruction to the general education class but without the shared planning or assistance of the classroom teacher. The last intervention was provided outside of the general education classroom. All three interventions utilized the same lesson plans and materials. Children in both the collaborative and classroom-based approaches received the intervention once a week for 40 minutes. The children receiving speech and language services also participated in a 15 minute individual or small group intervention outside the classroom as well for a total of 55 minutes of intervention a week. The children in the traditional outside the classroom intervention participated for an average of 50 minutes a week.

The authors found that significant gains in vocabulary growth were observed by all three intervention approaches. However, both the children receiving speech and language intervention and their typical peers made greater gains in their classroom vocabulary targets with the collaborative approach as compared to the other service delivery models. These results would indicate that when targeting vocabulary skills for children in early elementary school a collaborative intervention approach may result in the greatest gains.

Because of the lack of evidence-based data, school SLPs might rely on lower levels of evidence such as the recommendations of experts to guide their decisionmaking. In regards to language intervention, Paul (2007) discusses the selection of the service delivery model as being impacted by multiple factors. She states that the child's age, goal, and the type of intervention being used affects the place where intervention may be most effective. For instance based on Throneburg et al. (2000), when targeting vocabulary, the clinician may decide that a collaborative model will be best in order to increase the use of targeted words outside of the intervention.

For phonological intervention, Kamhi (2006) and Tyler (2005) recommend selecting the place and amount of time to work with a child depending on the child's goal and the purpose of the intervention. For instance, Tyler indicates that a child who is working on correct production in isolation may benefit from having one-on-one intervention outside of the classroom. In contrast, a child's production of sounds within conversation may best be targeted within the general education classroom.

Just as the place for intervention can vary among children, the use of group or individual intervention as well as the amount of time can also differ. Kamhi (2006), Paul (2007) and Tyler (2005) all recommend that decisions regarding the amount of time for intervention should be impacted by the same characteristics that were discussed in relation to the place for providing therapy.

Rationale and Research Questions

The ASHA 2006 School Survey and NOMS provide basic descriptions of the amount of time and place in which SLPs currently provide intervention services.

Additional information regarding the impact of caseload size and place of intervention has been garnered through other studies (Dowden et al., 2006; NOMS, n.d.a.). However, the information from these latter surveys is limited in that they do not allow one to evaluate which factors are associated with the SLP's decisions regarding the location and amount of intervention. The purpose of this study was to examine the three factors in the SIDM model that might impact the intervention decisions made by school-based SLPs using a survey method. Specifically, three questions were asked:

- What is the opinion of SLPs with respect to the impact of SLP, workplace, and child factors when making decisions about time and place for service delivery?
- 2. What are the child factors (severity, grade level, and disability) associated with time and place of service delivery?
- 3. Which of the SLP and workplace factors are the best fit for the SIDM model?

Predictions

 What is the opinion of SLPs with respect to the impact of SLP, workplace, and child factors when making decisions about time and place for service delivery?

Research would indicate that caseload size impacts the SLP's decisions regarding the amount of time and place that students participate in therapy. However, no information is available regarding the SLP's opinion regarding the components of the SIDM model and their delivery of services within the schools.

2. What are the child factors (severity, grade level, and disability) associated with time and place of service delivery?

According to the NOMS data, caseload size impacts an SLP's ability to individualize student intervention, but it is unknown what the impact is for the child factors in regards to the amount of time or place that students participate in intervention.

3. Which of the SLP and workplace factors are the best fit for the SIDM model? According to the NOMS data, caseload size impacts an SLP's ability to individualize student intervention, thus workplace should play a role, but it is unknown if that role will be greater than child or SLP factors.

Method

Participants

A total of 9,868 SLPs were identified to receive an invitation to participate in a survey via email that evaluated their service delivery decision-making. The participants for this study were Speech-Language Pathologists (SLPs) currently working in the public schools who had their Certificate of Clinical Competence. The SLPs were randomly selected from each of the 50 states and the District of Columbia using the ASHA website membership directory. According to the 2007 ASHA membership information, there were a total of 89,062 SLPs who were members. Fifty-five percent (49,340) of these SLPs were currently working in the schools. Twenty percent of these SLPs were randomly selected to participate in the school survey for a total of 9,868 participants. This number was approximately twice the 4,140 randomly selected participants who completed the 2006 ASHA School Survey.

SLPs from each state were randomly selected. The number of SLPs chosen to participate was based upon the percentage of the U.S. population within each state. According to the 2000 United States' census information, there were 281,421,906 persons living in the United States. Appendix B provides the population of each state, that state's percentage of the United States' population, and the number of SLPs that were selected from that state based upon its percent of the American population. The SLPs were identified using randomly selected zip codes from each state until the specified number of SLPs from that state were identified.

Of the 9,868 potential participants, 8,246 remained after eliminating the 458 persons who utilized the option of being eliminated from the survey pool and the 1,164 SLPs who were either no longer employed in the public schools or did not have a current email address. A total of 1,897 SLPs completed the survey. This resulted in a 23.01% response rate. Response rates typically average between 20 and 24% for web-only surveys (Sax, Gilmartin, & Bryant, 2003).

SLP Characteristics

In regards to clinical training, the participating SLPs had worked in the schools for an average of 15 years (SD = 9.09 years) and had graduated in 1991 (SD = 9.3 years) (See Table 1). During graduate school, 92.1% of the SLPs had provided intervention in individual sessions outside of the classroom and 87.5% had utilized group intervention sessions outside of the classroom. In contrast, 24.2% had provided intervention within the elementary classroom using a shared teaching approach as noted in Table 2. CFY instruction was most likely to include general suggestions with 48.2% of SLPs selecting this option (See Table 3).

Table 1

SLP Characteristics			
	Ν	Mean	Standard
			Deviation
Year(s) Worked in Schools	1851	15.17	9.09
Year Graduated	1644	1991.07	9.3

	Response Frequency	Response Count
Full-time	80.9%	1534
Part-time	18.7%	354
	Total	1888

Table 2SLP Characteristics: Full-time versus Part-time

For professional development activities, the majority of SLPs who completed the survey had attended seminars (92.2%), participated in district training activities (87.9%), read journal articles (85.6%), or attended a state conference (67.8%) (See Table 3). In addition to traditional professional development activities, SLPs were also asked to identify the person most likely to complete on-site observations of their intervention and assessment activities. These results presented in Table 4 noted that the building administrator (e.g., school principal) was selected by 46.0% of the SLPs followed by the Special Education supervisor by 23.4% of SLPs.

Table 3

SLP Characteristics: Supervision of School-based SLP

	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
Building Administrator	46.0%	769
Special Education Supervisor	23.4%	391
Nobody observes me	14.3%	239
Speech-Language Pathologist (district supervisor)	12.1%	202
Other	2.7%	45
Speech-Language Pathologist (peer)	1.4%	24
	Total	1670

SLP Characteristics: SLP Training		
Clinical Training during Graduate School	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
Individual session outside the classroom	92.1%	1687
Group session outside the classroom	87.5%	1602
Consultation	62.8%	1150
Preschool classroom based	42.2%	773
Delivering elementary intervention in classroom	32.6%	597
but independent of the classroom teacher		
Elementary classroom based with shared	24.2%	443
teaching		
Middle and High School intervention	21.1%	387
independent of classroom teacher		
Middle and High School classroom based with	8.9%	163
shared teaching		
CFY Instruction		
General suggestions for improvement (e.g., goal	48.2%	914
writing, intervention strategies)		
Specific suggestions for improvement on five	19.8%	376
children or less (e.g., intervention goals, place for		
intervention)		
Specific suggestions for improvement on six or	18.8%	357
more children (e.g., intervention goals, place for		
intervention)	– – – – – – – – – –	1.4.6
No suggestions or feedback for improvement	1.1%	146
Professional Development		
	00.00/	1740
Attended seminar(s)	92.2%	1/43
District training(s)	87.9%	1663
Read journal(s)	85.6%	1618
Attended state conference(s)	67.8%	1282
On-line program(s)	32.9%	622
Attended national conference(s)	31.6%	597
Completed college course(s)	26.8%	507
Teleseminar(s)	24.3%	460
The relationship that participating SLPs had with their co-workers was evaluated by requesting that they report the number of classroom teachers with students on their caseload, the typical number of teachers with whom they collaborated during a week and the typical number of classrooms in which they provided intervention during a week. These results located in Table 5 indicate that on average the SLPs had students on their caseload in 15 different classrooms (M = 15.06, SD = 8.79). The SLPs typically consulted with 7 teachers (M = 7.14, SD = 5.40) each week and provided in-class intervention in an average of 2 classrooms a week (M = 1.88, SD = 3.21).

Table 5SLP Characteristics: SLP Interaction with Classroom Teachers

	Ν	Mean	Standard
			Deviation
Number of different classrooms	1444	15.06	8.79
with students on caseload			
Number of teachers with whom	1381	7.14	5.40
consult during a week			
Number of classrooms in which	1490	1.88	3.21
SLP provides intervention during			
a week			

Workplace Characteristics

Workplace characteristics were described as including information about the school, the SLPs' workload and caseload size, the support of the school administration, and the type of team input provided when making decisions regarding the amount of time to provide intervention and the place of intervention. Tables 6 through 8 contain school demographic information. SLPs from all 50 states as well as

Washington, D.C. participated in the survey. The greatest percentage of SLPs were from California (11.7%) and Texas (6.1%) with the fewest questionnaires being completed by SLPs in Alaska (0.2%), Montana (0.2%) and Wyoming (0.2%) (See Table 6). 52.7% of SLPs worked in suburban schools (See Table 7) and over half of the schools (58.4%) were reported to be Title I schools (See Table 8). Title I schools are schools in which a minimum of 40% or more of the students enrolled at the school or living in that school's area qualify as low income according to the United States Census information.

Table 6

State	Frequency	Percent
	N=1,897	of N
Alabama	19	1.0
Alaska	4	.2
Arizona	35	1.8
Arkansas	17	.9
California	221	11.6
Colorado	34	1.8
Connecticut	23	1.2
Delaware	7	.4
Washington, DC	8	.4
Florida	80	4.2
Georgia	64	3.4
Hawaii	9	.5
Idaho	7	.4
Illinois	87	4.6
Indiana	51	2.7
Iowa	15	.8
Kansas	26	1.4
Kentucky	29	1.5
Louisiana	29	1.5
Maine	9	.5
Maryland	32	1.7
Massachusetts	37	2.0
Michigan	90	4.7
Minnesota	49	2.6
Mississippi	21	1.1
Missouri	37	2.0
Montana	4	.2
Nebraska	18	.9
Nevada	10	.5
New Hampshire	12	.6
New Jersey	60	3.2
New Mexico	15	.8
New York	85	4.5
North Carolina	50	2.6
North Dakota	5	.3
Ohio	72	3.8
Oklahoma	21	1.1
Oregon	25	1.3
Pennsylvania	75	4.0

Number of SLP Responses to Survey by State

State	Frequency	Percent
	N=1,897	of N
Rhode Island	10	.5
South Carolina	25	1.3
South Dakota	7	.4
Tennessee	39	2.1
Texas	116	6.1
Utah	21	1.1
Vermont	9	.5
Virginia	51	2.7
Washington	45	2.4
West Virginia	17	.9
Wisconsin	52	2.7
Wyoming	4	.2

Table 7

Workplace Characteristics: School Demographics

	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
Rural	23.8%	452
Suburban	52.7%	999
Urban	23.5%	446
	Total	1897

Table 8 Workplace Characteristics: Title I School

	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
Yes	58.4%	1108
No	39.8%	755
	Total	1863

The SLPs who completed the survey reported the greatest number of students on average being in elementary school (M = 36.16, SD = 23.19) (See Table 9). The fewest number of students were in high school (M = 8.53, SD = 15.05). The total caseload was adjusted to account for SLPs working part-time so that their caseload

sizes could be included in the average. This adjusted caseload resulted in an average caseload of 50.72 students (SD = 26.08). When asked about where their students participated in intervention, SLPs reported that on average the greatest number of students were seen in group intervention as compared to individual intervention (See Table 10). In addition, slightly more than 37 students were seen outside the classroom on average (M = 37.03, SD = 10.9) as compared to in the classroom intervention with shared teaching (M = 6.04, SD = 9.16) (See Table 10). Some SLPs reported seeing some students both within the classroom as well as outside of the classroom or individually and within groups. Therefore, the same child on their caseload may have been reported more than once depending on the type and place of their services.

Workplace Characteristics: Students on SLP Caseload by Grade Level			
	Ν	Mean	Standard
			Deviation
Preschool	1346	9.84	12.25
Elementary	1531	36.16	23.19
Junior High	871	11.92	16.11
High School	737	8.53	15.05
Total Adjusted Caseload	1814	50.72	26.08

Table 9

	Ν	Mean	Standard Deviation
Type of Intervention			
Individual Intervention	1635	9.06	23.5
Group Intervention	1616	36.54	12.09
Place of Intervention			
Shared Teaching in Classroom	935	6.04	9.16
Students Seen in Classroom (not shared	765	4.67	8.1
teaching)			
Students Seen Outside the Classroom	1508	37.03	20.9
Resource Room	569	5.01	9.92
Self-contained Classroom	890	10.56	13.20

Table 10 Workplace Characteristics: Average Number of Students Seen in Varying Service Delivery Models

Workload activities reported by SLPs are presented in Table 11. SLPs

indicated the greatest number of hours per week being spent in direct intervention (M

= 21.67, SD = 8.63) followed by paperwork (M = 6.06, SD = 4.79) and meetings (M

= 4.15, SD = 4.39). In order to more

 Table 11

 Workplace Characteristics: Average Hours Spent on Workload Activities

	Ν	Mean	Standard
			Deviation
Direct intervention	1412	21.67	8.63
Consultation	1279	2.55	3.79
Meetings	1319	4.15	4.39
Paperwork	1323	6.06	4.79
Pre-referral intervention	1056	1.79	2.76
Supervising speech therapy assistant(s)	864	.97	3.33
Professional development	850	.96	1.39
Other	485	3.52	3.77

directly account for Tier II interventions activities, SLPs were asked to provide the average number of students as well as hours per week spent providing therapy for students not on their caseload (See Table 12). SLPs described 1.81 hours on average (SD = 3.36) being spent providing intervention for a mean of 3.52 students per week (SD = 6.95).

Table 12Workplace Characteristics: Tier II Activities

	Ν	Mean	Standard Deviation
Number of students provided Tier II interventions	1444	3.52	6.95
Amount of time spent providing Tier II interventions	1354	1.81	3.36

In addition to workload and caseload activities, SLPs were also asked to indicate the teaming model most often utilized by their school. The results found in Table 13 indicated that the majority of schools used an interdisciplinary approach (71.2%) as compared to multidisciplinary or transdisciplinary approaches. More specifically, 49.7% of the SLPs indicated that they made service delivery decisions after obtaining input from the other team members (See Table 14). Furthermore, 83.7% of the participating SLPs indicated that administration allowed them to provide intervention for an appropriate amount of time, and 91% reported their administration as permitting them to provide intervention in a place necessary for improving the child's speech and language skills (See Table 15).

Table 13			
Workplace Characteristics:	Teaming	Model	Used

	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
Multidisciplinary	12.9%	211
Interdisciplinary	71.2%	1166
Transdisciplinary	15.9%	260
	Total	1637

Table 14

Workplace Characteristics: SLP Decision-Making Process for Service I	Delivery
--	----------

	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
SLP independently decides	33.6%	550
Team makes decision	17.2%	282
SLP makes decision after receiving input from the	49.1%	804
team		
	Total	1636

Table 15

Workplace Characteristic: Administrative SupportAllow SLP to Select Appropriate Amount of TimeResponseResponseFrequencyCountYes83.7%1376No16.3%268Total1644Allows SLP to Select Appropriate Place01.0%1501

Yes	91.0%	1501
No	9.0%	148
	Total	1649

Questionnaire

A questionnaire was developed to gather more specific information regarding where SLPs provided intervention and how often children participated in intervention during a week. The final version of the survey included questions that concentrated on gathering information from three areas: (1) the characteristics of the children on the SLP's caseload, (2) the workplace characteristics, and (3) the SLP's characteristics (Appendix C). The questionnaire utilized information from the 2006 ASHA School Survey as a basis in developing disability categories and the place where speech and language services were provided. This information was expanded to incorporate more specific questions regarding their current selection of where and how often to provide speech and language intervention to children in the public schools.

Development of Questionnaire

The original version of the questionnaire had 14 questions. Four of these questions evaluated child characteristics regarding the likely place that a child would participate in intervention and amount of time depending on his/her grade and then for his/her disability. In addition to the questions evaluating the child characteristics, there were four questions regarding the workplace characteristics such as the school demographic, caseload size, hours contracted to work per week, and the use of block scheduling. The original questionnaire also contained five questions regarding the SLP characteristics such as the year the SLP graduated with a Master's degree,

number of years employed in the schools, and the type of clinical training experiences in which he/she participated during graduate school.

The remaining question on the survey comprised items from each of the three categories. Question eight requested that the SLPs rank the top five considerations when making service delivery decisions. The items listed were from an original list of seventeen items that are recommended by ASHA (2000) to be considered when making decisions regarding the place and amount of time students participate in intervention.

Many of the categories within the original survey were based upon those within the ASHA School Survey (2006). For instance, the disabilities included in questions nine, thirteen and fourteen were based upon disorders included in ASHA's survey. The options for where speech and language services were provided originated from the choices found within the ASHA survey as well. In contrast, the selections for the frequency of service delivery as well as the other questions contained within the survey were added by the author.

Focus Group

In order to obtain feedback regarding the original questionnaire, a focus group lasting an hour and a half was conducted with four SLPs. All of the participants in the focus group were selected using a convenience sampling method and currently employed in a public school in three suburban cities located in Kansas. In addition, the SLPs had a current state license as well as their Certificate of Clinical Competence (CCC). Their clinical experience ranged from one year to more than

twenty years working in the public schools. After obtaining signed consents from each participant, the SLPs were asked to complete the questionnaire which took from 15 to 20 minutes in a paper-pencil format. The author then led a discussion regarding each item on the questionnaire beginning with the instructions and proceeding through the fourteen questions. This was followed by a discussion regarding the use of a computerized format of the questionnaire on the final questionnaire instead of the paper/pencil version.

Based upon the feedback received during this discussion, the general instructions on the questionnaire were modified so that participants would know to have access to their caseload information. Other questions throughout the questionnaire required changes to the instructions to eliminate some of the ambiguity that was present when the questionnaire was completed by the focus group participants. Additional input indicated the need to provide more choices for the types of professional development completed and the amount of time students received intervention.

Pilot Study

A pilot study was conducted utilizing the questionnaire developed following the focus group. The purpose of the pilot study was threefold: (1) to gather preliminary information from practicing school SLPs regarding their current school practice, (2) to evaluate the ability of the questions present on the questionnaire to answer the research questions, and (3) to observe a probable response rate.

The participants for the pilot study were selected using the ASHA website membership directory. The SLPs had their Certificate of Clinical Competence and were from Kansas and had zip codes associated with the Topeka, Lawrence, Leavenworth, and Kansas City, Kansas metropolitan area. All SLPs were listed as being school-based SLPs according to their membership information with ASHA. The search resulted in 182 possible participants. Of these, 17 completed a portion of the questionnaire, and 77 finished the questionnaire in its entirety. This resulted in a total of 94 respondents for a 51.65 percent completion rate. For the participants that completed the questionnaire, 66.3% worked in a suburban school district, 30.4% worked in an urban school district and 3.3% were employed in a rural school district. The questionnaire was distributed using the online survey engine, Survey Monkey (<u>www.surveymonkey.com</u>). Potential respondents received three emails over a fourweek period requesting their participation in the survey.

The results of this survey provided limited information regarding the impact of the child, workplace, and SLP in regards to the place and time that intervention were provided. Significant limitations were noted regarding the questionnaire's ability to evaluate many of the components of the SIDM model. Questions regarding the place and amount of time that services were provided in relation to disability and age were not asked consistently. The questionnaire was not able to assess the impact of the severity of a child's disability on the clinician's decisions regarding the place and time that intervention was provided. Workplace factors such as the clinician's workload, administrative support, and school teams were not effectively evaluated.

Lastly, the relationship of the SLPs with other school personnel was not assessed. The inability for the questionnaire used in the pilot study to evaluate these components of the SIDM model resulted in significant changes and additions to the survey.

Because of these issues, some of the questions on the survey used in the pilot study were changed and questions were added. The questionnaire was divided into three sections: 1) demographic information, 2) time, and 3) place (See Appendix C). The demographic section was followed by the sections containing questions about the amount of time children participated in services and questions regarding the place services were delivered. Twenty-one questions comprised the demographic section which included questions regarding both the workplace and SLP. A breakdown of the questions within the final version of the questionnaire can be found in Table 16.

CHILD		Question	Questions
CHARACTERISTICS		No.	
All Child		28	Please select the top
Characteristics			consideration in regards to the
			child's characteristics when
			deciding the AMOUNT OF
			TIME to provide intervention for
			students on your caseload.
		38	Please select the top
			consideration in regards to the
			child's characteristics when
			deciding WHERE to provide
			intervention for students on your
			caseload.
Strengths, needs,		35	For each of the following
current abilities			disabilities please select the time
			that you or your assistant deliver
			intervention for the child on your
			caseload with the MOST
			SEVEDE DISADILITY Diance
			SEVERE DISABILIT Flease
			dischilition normagented on your
			disabilities represented on your
			caseload.
		36	For each of the following
			disabilities please select the time
			that you or your assistant deliver
	Interrelated		intervention for the child on your
	components		caseload with a MODERATE
			DISABILITY. Please answer for
			ONLY those disabilities
			represented on your caseload.
Severity and nature of		37	For each of the following
disability			disabilities please select the time
			that you or your assistant deliver
			intervention for the child on your
			caseload with the LEAST
			SEVERE DISADII ITV Diago
			answer for ONLY those
			disabiliting represented on vorm
			uisaonities represented on your
			caseload.

Table 16 Itemization of Final Questionnaire in Regards to SIDM Model

	Question	Quastions
CHADACTEDISTICS	Question	Questions
	45	For each of the following disabilities please select the place that you or your assistant deliver intervention for the child on your caseload with the MOST SEVERE DISABILITY listed below. Please answer for ONLY those disabilities represented on your caseload.
Impact on general ed.	46	For each of the following disabilities please select the place that you or your assistant deliver intervention for the child on your caseload with a MODERATE DISABILITY listed below. Please answer for ONLY those disabilities represented on your caseload.
	47	For each of the following disabilities please select the place that you or your assistant deliver intervention for the child on your caseload with the LEAST SEVERE DISABILITY listed below. Please answer for ONLY those disabilities represented on your caseload.
Peer modeling	26 27	For the students on your caseload, how many were impacted in regards to the AMOUNT OF TIME intervention is provided due to a need for peer modeling? For the students on your caseload, how many were impacted in regards to the PLACE intervention is provided due to a need for peer modeling?

CHILD	Question	Questions
CHARACTERISTICS	No.	
Motivation/attitude	24	For the students on your caseload,
		how many required you to adjust
		the AMOUNT OF TIME students
		participate in intervention due to
		factors associated with the
		student's motivation to take part?
	25	For the students on your caseload,
		how many required you to adjust
		the PLACE that the student
		participates in intervention due to
		factors associated with the
		student's motivation to take part?
Age/developmental	32	For the following grades, please
level		select the time that you or your
		assistant deliver intervention for
		the child on your caseload with
		the MOST SEVERE
		DISABILITY in each of the grade
		levels. Please provide answers
		ONLY for those grades
		represented on your caseload.
	33	For the following grades, please
		select the time that you or your
		assistant deliver intervention for
		the child on your caseload with a
		MODERATE DISABILITY in
		each of the grade levels. Please
		provide answers ONLY for those
		grades represented on your
		caseload.
	34	For the following grades, please
		select the time that you or your
		assistant deliver intervention for
		the child on your caseload with
		the LEAST SEVERE
		DISABILITY in each of the grade
		levels. Please provide answers
		ONLY for those grades
		represented on your caseload.

CHILD	Question	Questions
CHARACTERISTICS	No.	
	42	For the following grades, please select the place that you or your assistant provide intervention for the child with a SEVERE DISABILITY in each of the grade levels. Please provide answers ONLY for those grades represented on your caseload.
	43	For the following grades, please select the place that you or your assistant provide intervention for the child with a MODERATE DISABILITY in each of the grade levels. Please provide answers ONLY for those grades represented on your caseload.
	44	For the following grades, please select the place that you or your assistant provide intervention for the child with the LEAST SEVERE DISABILITY in each of the grade levels. Please provide answers ONLY for those grades represented on your caseload.

WORKPLACE	Question	Questions
CHARACTERISTICS	No.	
All Workplace	29	Please select the top
Characteristics		consideration in regards to the
		workplace characteristics when
		deciding the AMOUNT OF
		TIME to provide intervention
		for students on your caseload.
	39	Please select the top
		consideration in regards to the
		workplace characteristics when
		deciding the PLACE to provide
		intervention for students on
		your caseload.
Workload size	12	Which of the following
		statements best describes how
		you determine the amount of
		time and the place a child will
		participate in speech and
		language intervention?
	13	Please specify the number of
		students seen in individual
		intervention sessions during a
		typical week.
	15	Please specify the typical
		amount of time spent on the
		following activities each week
		at work.
	20	During a typical week, for how
		many students do you provide
		intervention that are not on
		your caseload (e.g., Tier II
		services or children who are in
		the evaluation process)?
	21	How much time during the
		typical week do you spend
		providing intervention to
		students in the process of being
		evaluated (Tier II services)?

WORKPLACE		Question	Questions
CHARACTERISTICS		NO.	
Caseload size		/	Please specify the number of
			students on your caseload who
		0	are in the following grades.
		8	Please check the appropriate
			description regarding your
			current employment status as a
			school SLP.
		14	Please specify the number of
			students on your caseload seen
			in the following places.
Administrative		22	Does your administration in the
support			school allow you to provide
			speech and language services
			for the AMOUNT OF TIME
			necessary to improve the
			child's skills? Yes No
		23	Does your administration in the
			school allow you to provide
			speech and language services in
			the PLACE necessary to
			improve the child's skills?
			Yes No
Team input		10	Please select the teaming model
			that best matches the one used
			at your primary school.
		11	Which of the following
			statements best describes how
			you determine the amount of
			time and the place a child will
			participate in speech and
			language intervention?
Other	Demographic	6	Which of the following best
			describes the area which your
			school district serves?

SLP		Question	Questions
CHARACTERISTICS		No.	
All SLP		30	Please select the top consideration
Characteristics			from the following when deciding the
			AMOUNT OF TIME to provide
			intervention for students on your
			caseload.
		40	Please select the top consideration
			from the following when deciding the
			PLACE to provide intervention for
			students on your caseload.
Clinical Training		3, 4	Please mark all of the places in which
			you participated in clinical training as
			part of your university clinic, field
			study site, or externship during your
			graduate school experience.
			Please indicate the amount of
			instruction and feedback you received
			from your supervisor during your
			CFY.
Experience	Grad.	1	What year did you graduate with your
			MA's degree in SLP?
	Yrs.	2	How many years have you worked as
	Wrkd.		an SLP within the schools?
Professional		5	Please indicate any of the following
development			types of professional development
			which you have completed in the last
			5 years NOT including graduate
			training.
		16	Please select the person that is most
			likely to conduct on-site observations
			of your intervention/assessments as
			part of your school contract.
Relationship with		17	How many different classrooms have
school personnel			students on your caseload? For
			example, an SLP who sees five first
			graders who are in the same
			classroom would have only one. In
			contrast, an SLP with five first
			graders in two different classrooms
			would have two.

SLP CHARACTERISTICS	Question	Questions
	18	How many teachers do you consult with regarding students on your caseload during the typical week?
	19	For how many classrooms do you provide intervention in the general education classroom during the typical week?

OTHER	Question	Questions
QUESTIONS	No.	
Block Scheduling	9	For any of the children that you provide
		intervention, do you use block scheduling?
		Block scheduling is defined as when the
		child is seen 4 to 5 times a week for 3 to 6
		weeks followed by a break for the same
		amount of time.
All SIDM	31	Please select the top THREE considerations
Characteristics		from the following when deciding the
		AMOUNT OF TIME to provide
		intervention for students on your caseload.
	41	Please select the top THREE considerations
		from the following when deciding the
		PLACE to provide intervention for students
		on your caseload.
Interview	48	Would you be willing to complete a brief
Participation		(15-20 minutes) phone interview to
Questions		elaborate on some of the answers you
		provided in the above questionnaire?

Some of the disabilities that were asked about on the pilot questionnaire were not included on the present questionnaire due to the fact that the response rate for these questions was smaller. The selected disabilities were based upon the data ASHA gathered from the 2008 School Survey. The eight disabilities that were chosen to be included were associated with speech and/or language impairments reported to occur with the greatest frequency according to the average number of students on a caseload for reporting SLPs. These were: articulation/phonological disorder, autism/pervasive developmental disorder (PDD), pragmatics/social, learning disabilities, mental retardation/developmental disability (MR/DD, nonverbal, augmentative/alternative communication, reading and writing (literacy), and specific language impairment.

In addition to the changes made as a result of the SIDM model, many of the previous changes and additions were completed as a result of feedback garnered from the written orals committee. For instance, committee members wanted additional information regarding the supervision SLPs receive within the school setting as was found in question 16. The impact of school climate on the school SLP's delivery of speech and language intervention and the SLP's role within the school was also considered an important factor that should be included in the study (See questions 10 and 11 in Table 16). The last question to be added was 48 as a result of feedback from the author's written orals committee. This question asked participants if they would be willing to complete an interview by email. From those agreeing to participate in the interview, 25 would be randomly selected. These persons were asked to respond to the questions included in Appendix C. This information was used to add specific details and clarification of the information gathered from the entire survey and assisted in providing a clearer picture of the factors impacting the SLP's decisions regarding the place and amount of time that intervention was provided.

Questionnaire Validity

In order to increase the validity of the data gathered using the questionnaire in Appendix C, steps were taken to decrease the total survey error. Dillman, Smyth, and Christian (2009) describe four potential errors which surveys must address. The first is coverage error which occurs when not everyone in a population has an equal opportunity to participate in the survey. Because the ASHA membership directory

was utilized in randomly selecting the participants, all ASHA certified SLPs had an equal opportunity to participate thereby reducing the possibility of coverage error.

Another potential concern is sampling error. This occurs when a person surveys a portion of the desired population rather than everyone. Dillman et al. (2009) state that "It is the size of the sample, not the proportion of the population sampled, that affects precision" (p. 55). Sample size not only relates to the number of persons surveyed but more importantly the number who complete the survey. Given the ASHA's 2006 demographic profile information, 54,374 ASHA certified SLPs have their primary employment in a school. Therefore, a completed sample size of 1,087 is needed for a 95% confidence interval with a +/- 3% margin of error.

The third possible source of error is nonresponse error. Dillman et al. (2009) describe this as occurring when those who choose not to complete the survey are different from those who do. One method to reduce nonresponse error is to utilize follow-up reminders. The current study contacted participants up to four times over approximately three months prior to the questionnaire being closed. In addition, the study utilized the same follow-up reminder for all participants in an effort to encourage him/her to complete the survey while not providing more encouragement to one potential participant as compared to another.

The last potential error which was addressed was measurement error. This error occurs when inaccurate answers are obtained as a result of poorly worded questions, the type of survey mode utilized, and characteristics of the participant's behavior. In order to minimize the potential for this error, the current survey was

conducted via the internet throughout the time it was administered. In addition, the pilot study allowed the researcher to evaluate the question format that would be used on the internet. The focus group also provided the opportunity to discuss directly the questions on the survey in order to ensure they were not confusing or misleading.

Results

The data were analyzed using descriptive and parametric procedures depending on the research question. The specific questions to be explored were as follows:

- What is the opinion of SLPs with respect to the impact of SLP, workplace, and child factors when making decisions about time and place for service delivery?
- 2. What are the child factors (severity, grade level, and disability) associated with time and place of service delivery?
- 3. Which of the SLP, workplace, and child factors are the best fit for the SIDM model?

Questions one and two were analyzed using descriptive statistics. This method was chosen due to the exploratory nature of the study in that little information was available in previous studies that evaluated all of these variables within the same study.

Research Question 1: SLP Opinion

SLPs were asked to select the most important child characteristic, workplace characteristic and SLP characteristic contained within the SIDM model when they determine the amount of time to provide intervention for students on their caseload. In regards to the child characteristics found in Table 17, SLPs most often selected the nature and severity of the child's disorder (57.1%) and the child's communication needs (27.7%). Team input

Table 17 Considerations for Time: Child Characteristics

Question: Please select the top consideration in regards to the child's characteristics when deciding the AMOUNT OF TIME to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
Nature and severity	57.1%	885
Communication needs	27.7%	430
Strengths and needs	11.9%	184
Age and developmental level	3.1%	48
Motivation and attitude	0.1%	2
Need for peer modeling	0.1%	1

(37.1%) and caseload size (33.8%) were most likely to be selected when provided the

workplace characteristics (see Table 18). For the SLP characteristics, 55.6% of SLPs

Table 18

Considerations for Time: Workplace Characteristics

Question: Please select the top consideration in regards to the workplace characteristics when deciding the AMOUNT OF TIME to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

	Response Frequency	Response Count
Team input	37.1%	578
Caseload size	33.8%	526
Workload size	25.2%	393
Administrative support	3.9%	61

Table 19 Considerations for Time: SLP Characteristics			
Question: Please select the top consideration from the following when deciding the AMOLINT OF TIME to provide intervention for students on your caseload			
	Response Frequency	Response Count	
Clinical training	55.6%	829	
Professional development	19.7%	294	
Years worked	14.0%	209	
Relationship with co-workers	10.6%	158	

identified their clinical training as being the most significant factor when deciding the amount of time to provide intervention (See Table 19). SLPs were then provided with all 14 items contained within the 3 components of the SIDM model (See Table 20). These results indicated that the nature and severity of the child's disorder (67.7%), the child's communication needs as related to his/her general education curriculum (53%), and their strengths, needs, and emerging abilities (30.6%) were most often selected as impacting their decisions regarding time.

Table 20

Considerations for Time: Combined Child, Workplace, and SLP Characteristics Question: Please select the top THREE considerations from the following when deciding the AMOUNT OF TIME to provide intervention for students on your caseload. (N=1,897)

	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
The nature and severity of the child's disorder	67.7%	1285
The child's communication needs in relation to	53%	1005
his/her general education curriculum		
The child's strengths, needs, and emerging	30.6%	581
abilities		
Caseload size	23.9%	453
The child's age and developmental level	23.5%	446
Team input	15.3%	291
Workload size	10.8%	204
The motivation and attitude of the child	7.7%	146
Clinical training	3.4%	64
Relationship with school personnel	3.1%	59
Administrative support	1.7%	32
The need for peer modeling	1.6%	31
Professional development	1.6%	30
Years worked	1.3%	25

In regards to the place where children participate in intervention, the SLPs were asked to identify the child, workplace and SLP characteristic that most impacts their choice of where to provide intervention. Approximately forty percent of the SLPs identified the nature and severity of the child's disorder as most often impacting their choice of where to provide intervention (See Table 21). For the workplace characteristics, the team's input was

Table 21 Considerations for Place: Child Characteristics Question: Please select the top consideration in regards to the child's characteristics when deciding the PLACE to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

	Response Frequency	Response Count
Nature and severity	40.5%	580
Communication needs	38.2%	546
Strengths and needs	12.5%	179
Age and developmental level	5.3%	76
Need for peer modeling	2.3%	33
Motivation and attitude	1.2%	17
	Total	1431

selected by 41% of the SLPs completing the survey as noted in Table 22. Clinical

training was selected by 42% and their relationship with co-workers for another

31.9% of the SLPs as being the top SLP considerations when deciding where to

provide a child's intervention (See Table 23). When asked their top 3 factors when

provided the 14 characteristics within the

Table 22

Considerations for Place: Workplace Characteristics

Question: Please select the top consideration in regards to the workplace characteristics when deciding the PLACE to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
Team input	41%	580
Caseload size	31.5%	445
Workload size	15.9%	224
Administrative support	11.6%	164
	Total	1413

Table 23
Considerations for Place: SLP Characteristics
Question: Please select the top consideration from the following when deciding the
PLACE to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

	Response Frequency	Response Count
Clinical training	42%	583
Relationship with co-workers	31.9%	443
Professional development	16.8%	233
Years worked	9.4%	130
	Total	1389

SIDM model, SLPs again identified the nature and severity of the child's disorder (51.9%), the child's communication needs in relation to his/her general education curriculum (46.8%), and the child's strengths, needs, and emerging abilities (27.6%) as being the most important features of the SIDM model that impact their choice of where to provide intervention (See Table 24).

Table 24

Considerations for Place: Combined Child, Workplace, and SLP Characteristics Question: Please select the top THREE considerations from the following when deciding the PLACE to provide intervention for students on your caseload. (N=1,897)

	Response	Response
	Frequency	Count
The nature and severity of the child's disorder	51.9%	984
The child's communication needs in relation to	46.8%	888
his/her general education curriculum		
The child's strengths, needs, and emerging	27.6%	523
abilities		
Caseload size	20.0%	379
Relationship with school personnel	16.9%	321
Team input	14.2%	270
The child's age and developmental level	14.0%	266
The need for peer modeling	6.9%	130
Workload size	6.7%	128
Clinical training	5.5%	104
Administrative support	5.0%	95
The motivation and attitude of the child	4.6%	87
Professional development	3.2%	61
Years worked	1.8%	35

Research Question 2: Child Factors and Time and Place of Services

The participating SLPs were asked to report on the time and place for students currently on their caseload. In addition, the survey inquired about their use of block scheduling. Of the 1,680 SLPs who completed this question, slightly more than two percent indicated they did use block scheduling for at least one student on their caseload. The results regarding the time and place students participated in intervention are presented below.

Time by Grade

SLPs were asked to provide the information regarding specific children on their caseload and how often that child participated in intervention. Figure 2 illustrates the amount of time the children with the most severe disability in a specified grade (e.g., preschool or kindergarten) most often participate in intervention. Children in preschool through middle school with the most severe disability most often take part in intervention 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. In contrast, the most severe high schoolers participated in therapy 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes.





Time: Most Severe by Grade

Figure 3 illustrates that for children with a moderate disability in preschool through 5th grade, SLPs most often provided intervention to their students 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. Middle school and high school students with a moderate disability were more often seen 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes.





Time: Moderate Severity by Grade

All students with the least severe disability currently on the caseloads of the SLPs completing the survey most often took part in therapy 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes regardless of their grade (See Figure 4).

Figure 4



Time: Least Severe by Grade

Time by Disability

In order to evaluate the impact of a child's disability, SLPs were then asked to provide the amount of time children with varying severity levels of the eight disabilities most often occurring on an SLP's caseload as identified by ASHA (2008). Figures 5 through 7 show the responses that were provided by those completing the questionnaire. For the eight disabilities requested, children with the most severe disability (See Figure 5) and moderate disability (See Figure 6) participated in intervention 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes most often. In contrast, the children with the least severe disability more often took part in therapy 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes (See Figure 7).

Figure 5






Time: Moderate Severity by Disability

Figure 7



Time: Least Severe by Disability

Place by Grade

SLPs were asked similar questions in regards to the place students on their caseload participated in intervention as those previously asked as related to the amount of time therapy was provided. Figures 8 through 10 demonstrate where SLPs provide intervention for students on the caseload based upon the severity of the child's disability and their grade. For children with the most severe disability in kindergarten through middle school, SLPs reported providing intervention in groups outside of the classroom most often. The most severe preschoolers were more likely to receive intervention 1-on-1 outside the classroom, and high schoolers with the most severe

disability were seen in either the self-contained classroom or 1-on-1 intervention outside of the classroom as observed in Figure 8. In contrast, children with a moderate disability (See Figure 9) or the least severe disability (See Figure 10) partook in therapy in groups outside of the classroom most often.





Place: Most Severe by Grade

Grade





Place: Moderate Severity by Grade



Figure 10



Place: Least Severe by Grade

Place by Disability

In regards to the place that intervention was provided, more variation was observed when accounting for the severity and type of the child's disability. Children with the most severe articulation disorder, PDD, or AAC more often participated in intervention in a one-on-one setting outside of the classroom. In contrast, children with the remaining disabilities were seen in groups outside of the classroom as observed in Figure 11. While some variation for children with the most severe disabilities was observed, SLPs reported that their students with moderate and least severe disabilities took part in intervention in groups outside of the classroom regardless of their diagnosis (See Figures 12 and 13).





Place: Most Severe by Disability

Figure 12



Figure 13



Place: Least Severe by Disability

Follow-up Email Interview

In addition to the completion of the online survey, SLPs were asked if they would be willing to participate in an email interview. From those who volunteered to participate, 50 were randomly selected to complete the email interview contained in Appendix C. Of the 50 who received the questionnaire, 20 SLPs returned the completed interview. Due to the anonymous nature of the email interview, a description of the participating SLPs is not possible.

The SLPs were asked to provide their opinion as to why little variation was observed in the amount of time and place intervention was provided. Ten of the SLPs indicated that they believed workload factors (e.g., caseload size) impacted decisions regarding the amount of time to provide intervention. Eleven of the SLPs noted that scheduling impacted decisions related to time one of whom said "I believe there are some workplace realities that affect our scheduling." Another SLP stated that "Scheduling is very difficult because they can not be removed from class during a 90 minute reading block, 60 minute math block, lunch, PE, art, (and) music." The difficulties in arranging times may cause SLPs to select a minimal amount of time. Another SLP stated that "a 'seasoned' SLP can accomplish a goal quicker…verses a new SLP to the school that is getting their feet wet." All of these comments indicated that scheduling students was impacted by the time constraints in which the students and SLP were placed.

Five SLPs also stated their co-workers preferred this amount of time. In particular, one SLP stated that "Principals, teachers, and parents often insist that certain students receive a lot of therapy, twice a week whereas once a week would be sufficient." Another SLP believed that SLPs had not done enough to educate school staff as to the impact of speech and language delays on a child's ability to fully participate in his/her education.

Two of the eighteen SLPs reported that 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes was an appropriate amount of time. They believed this amount of time was adequate for their students to make gains. One SLP believed "a seasoned SLP can accomplish a goal quicker with a disability they are familiar treating verses a new SLP to the school that is getting their feet wet." The other SLP said, "We have found that

children make progress with these numbers." Their statements would indicate that there are some SLPs that believe this amount of intervention is appropriate for their students.

In regards to the place that intervention was provided, seven SLPs believed scheduling again impacted their choices about where to provide intervention. Five SLPs stated that their co-workers preferred intervention outside of the classroom. One such SLP stated that "there was a perception that services are not occurring if students are not seen in a pull-out model." Another SLP stated that "teachers want the students out of their room." These statements would indicate the expectation within the schools often times continues to be for students to participate in therapy outside of their general education classroom.

Their large workload and caseload was also noted to impact their choice for where to provide intervention by four of the SLPs completing the interview. Two SLPs believed that intervention within the classroom took more time. In addition, two other SLPs said that outside of the classroom intervention was more "practical." Another SLP believed that a lack of teacher training impacted her choices of where to provide intervention while another SLP believed a lack of training for SLPs on how to provide intervention within the classroom impacted the choices made.

The results of the interview regarding why SLPs most often chose to provide intervention 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes in groups outside of the classroom indicated that workplace characteristics such as scheduling and caseload impacted their decisions. In addition, SLPs specified that their fellow teachers preferred these

service delivery choices. These findings were in contrast to the information gathered on the survey in which SLPs selected child characteristics most often as the factors influencing their decisions regarding the amount of time and the place to provide intervention.

Research Question 3: Workplace and SLP Factors and Time and Place of Services

The lack of diversity in the amount of time and place for services in regards to the child characteristics within the SIDM model indicated the need for a further analysis of the workplace and SLP factors using a multinomial logistic regression. This analysis was selected in order to simultaneously evaluate the independent variables within each of the three components of the SIDM model while also taking into account a child's grade, disability and/or severity of the disorder. This method of analysis was chosen given its ability to evaluate categorical data (e.g., place intervention is provided) as well as numerical data (e.g., year of graduation).

Workplace factors that were evaluated within the survey were workload, caseload size, administrative support and the teaming approach used at the SLP's school(s) (See Figure 14). Caseload size was selected as a variable because of the results of previous research. In addition, this component of the SLP workload was selected because SLPs reported the majority of their time each week was spent providing intervention and would therefore, directly correspond to the number of students on his/her caseload. While caseload size was included in the multinomial logistic regression, administrative support and the SLP's teaming model used at the

school were not included because little variation was reported on these questions

within the survey.

Figure 14 Workplace Variables for Analysis



In addition to caseload size, the SLP variables were considered for inclusion in the multinomial logistic regression. The SLP variables evaluated within the survey were their clinical training experiences during the completion of their master's degree, the types of professional development in which the SLPs had participated in the last five years, and their relationship with the other school personnel (See Figure 15). From these three components, clinical training during the SLP's graduate school training was selected for inclusion. Related to his/her clinical training, the SLP's year of graduation was also selected because of the possible relationship with the SLP's clinical training experience. Professional development was evaluated by including the number of years the SLP had worked in the schools. The SLPs reported little impact as a result of their relationship with co-workers. Therefore, this was not included in the multinomial logistic regression model either.

Figure 15 SLP Variables for Analysis



The results for the multinomial logistic regression were completed separately in regards to the SLP's reported decisions for the amount of time intervention was provided as well as the place they provided intervention. Within each of these groups, analyses were completed according to grade level and the disability. For both grade level and disability, the analyses were completed separately for the three severity levels: most severe, moderate severity, and least severe.

Multinomial logistic regression estimates the effects of the independent variables and the likelihood that SLPs' decisions regarding the amount of time and place to provide intervention was impacted by the dependent variables. The analyses were based upon a model-based approach in which the independent variables that are included in the model are analyzed to determine if the selected variables contribute significantly as a group to the dependent variable. For the analyses which evaluated the amount of time that students participated in intervention, Table 25 provides a list of the independent variables that were included in the analysis. In contrast, the independent variables that were included in the analyses for the place that intervention was provided are listed in Table 26.

Table 25 Independent Variables for Analyses Relate	d to the Amount of Time that SLPs
Provide Services	
	Independent Variables Included in Model
Workplace	
	Adjusted caseload
SLP	
	SLP's year of graduation
	Number of years SLP has worked in the
	schools

	Independent Variables Included in Model
Workplace	
-	Adjusted Caseload
SLP	
	Years worked in the school
	SLP's year of graduation with Master's degree
	Clinical training experiences during graduate school
	Delivering one-on-one intervention outside the classroom
	Delivering group intervention outside the classroom
	Delivering intervention in the resource room
	Delivering intervention in a self-contained classroom
	Delivering classroom-based intervention for preschoolers
	Delivering classroom-based intervention with shared teaching
	in elementary classroom
	Delivering intervention in elementary classroom in which did not work directly with classroom teacher
	Delivering intervention in the general education classroom, but
	off to the side, not part of the general education classroom
	activity
	Delivering intervention in Middle and High School classroom
	in which you shared planning and teaching with the classroom
	teacher
	Delivering intervention in Middle and High School classroom
	independent of the classroom teacher
	Consultation with school personnel

 Table 26

 Independent Variables for Analyses Related to the Place that SLPs Provide Services

The SLP's caseload, year of graduation and number of years worked in the schools were included in the model as continuous variables. In contrast, the SLP's clinical training experiences during graduate school were dummy coded (0=No, 1=Yes) in regards to whether or not he/she had experienced intervention in this setting during graduate school. These variables were then evaluated with the model fit ($\alpha = .05$) using the most often reported amount of time for each grade level and disability as the reference category. Likelihood ratio tests were completed to

determine if the variables contributed significantly ($\alpha = .01$) to the SLPs' decisions regarding the amount of time or place children participated in intervention. This determination was based upon a change in model fit, the -2 log likelihood value. If the independent variables were observed to be significant ($\alpha = .01$) within the Likelihood ratio tests, they were evaluated further. An alpha level of .01 was selected to be used for the Likelihood ratio test as well as with the Parameter Estimates due to the large number of analyses that were conducted at a more conservative alpha level.

Service Delivery by Grade

SLPs reported information regarding the amount of time and place that intervention was provided for students on their caseload in conjunction with the student's grade level. The grade levels that were included were preschool, kindergarten, first, second, third, fourth, fifth, junior high/middle school (sixth through eighth), and high school (ninth through twelfth). For the grade levels evaluated, SLPs were asked to report the amount of time children with the most severe disability participated in intervention. The variables that were included when evaluating the amount of time students participated in therapy were caseload size, the SLP's year of graduation, and the number of years the SLP had worked in the schools. In addition to these three variables, the SLP's clinical training experiences were included in the analysis for the place that intervention was provided. The SLPs' responses were then evaluated using multinomial logistic regression to determine if there was a significant relationship between their decisions regarding the amount of time and place students participate in intervention and these variables.

Most Severe for Grade by Time. For each of the children on their caseload in the requested grade levels, SLPs were to report the amount of time their most severe student participated in intervention. The variables included in the analysis for time are listed in Table 25. The results for the Full Model in Table 27 indicated that for children in preschool, kindergarten, first and third grade the variables included in the full model (i.e., year of graduation with a master's degree, years worked in the public schools and adjusted caseload) contributed significantly to the ability to predict the amount of time that students would participate in intervention (See Table 27).

Table 27

Grade Level	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
	Likelihood			
Preschool	1579.29	36.65	12	.000*
Kindergarten	1518.08	37.10	12	.000*
First	1542.04	30.66	12	.002*
Second	1541.41	19.43	12	.079
Third	1553.70	21.83	12	.040*
Fourth	1391.61	12.88	12	.378
Fifth	1502.73	8.67	12	.731
Junior High/Middle School	1178.10	6.57	15	.969
High School	800.351	11.11	15	.745

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value.

In order to evaluate these factors in more detail, a likelihood ratio test was completed for the children who have the most severe disability in each grade. Variables which were significant at a .01 level or lower are reported in Table 28. For the preschool child on the SLP's caseload with the most severe disability, the SLP's caseload had a significant impact on the amount of time the children participated in intervention. For the kindergarten student with the most severe disability, the year that the SLP obtained his/her Master's degree and the number of years he/she worked in the schools contributed significantly to the amount of time the students were provided therapy. For the other grades previously found to be significant in the Full Model (first and third grade), the variables which were included in the model (See Table 25) were not found to be significant at the .01 level.

10010 20				
Likelihood Ratio	Tests: Most Seve	ere Grade for Time	2	
Grade Level	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
	Likelihood	_		_
Preschool				
Adjusted	1608.83	29.54	4	.000
Caseload				
Kindergarten				
Yr. of	1533.53	15.44	4	.004
grad				
Yrs.	1538.53	20.45	4	.000
worked in				
school				

Table 28

The variables that were observed to be significant within the Likelihood Ratio test were then assessed in more detail using Parameter Estimates. In evaluating the amount of time that the most severe preschoolers were more likely to participate in intervention, the reference category to which the other time options were compared was 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. This was chosen because it was selected more often by the reporting SLPs. Table 29 reports the regression weight (B), the standard error (SE), and the odds ratio (exp(b)). The results in Table 29 illustrate that the adjusted caseload was significant for SLPs choosing 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes and SLPs who selected 2 or more times a week for 45-60 minutes. Odds ratios, exp(b), above 1.0 indicate a higher likelihood of selecting the comparison category (e.g., 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes), and odds ratios below 1.0 predict a higher probability of membership in the reference category (e.g., 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes). Therefore, for students in preschool with the most severe disability, the SLP was more likely (1.017 times) to select 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes as his/her adjusted caseload increased a unit. In this case, a unit increase in the adjusted caseload is the addition of one more child. So, a clinician with a caseload of 80 is 30.51 times more likely to select 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes over 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to an SLP with a caseload of 50. Similarly, as the caseload increased, SLPs were 0.981 times more likely to select 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to two or more times a week for 45-60 minutes.

Table 29 also shows the likelihood of SLPs selecting 1 time a week for 45-60 minutes as compared to 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes for their most severe

kindergartener. In this case, as the SLP's year of graduation increased he/she was 0.915 times more likely to select 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. As the number of years that the SLP had worked in the schools increased, the SLP was 0.852 times more likely to select 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to one time a week for 45-60 minutes.

Table 29

Parameter Estimates: Child with Most Severe Disability in a Grade for Time B SE arp(h)

	D	SE	exp(b)
Preschool ^a			
1 time a week for			
20-30 min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	.017**	.005	1.017
2 or more times a			
week for 45-60			
min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	020**	.006	.981
Kindergarten ^a			
1 time a week for			
45-60 min.			
Yr. of grad	089**	.031	.915
Yrs. worked			
in school	161**	.043	.852

Note. ****** Indicates significance level of .001. ^a Indicates the reference category is 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. The variables included in this model are listed in Table 25. B is regression weight, SE is standard error, and exp(b) is the odds ratio.

Most Severe for Grade by Place. When evaluating the place that SLPs were most likely to provide intervention, the variables included in the model were the SLP's year of graduation, number of years worked in the school and their adjusted caseload. In addition, the places in which the SLP had participated in providing intervention during his/her graduate school training were included (See Table 26).

Place				
Disability	-2 Log Likelihood	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Preschool	1720.20	103.01	55	.000*
Kindergarten	2050.72	83.30	55	.008*
First	2010.66	64.29	55	.183
Second	1857.08	86.24	55	.005*
Third	1714.01	75.46	55	.035*
Fourth	1586.92	64.92	55	.169
Fifth	1551.29	70.43	55	.079
Junior High/ Middle School	966.109	67.25	55	.124
High School	659.99	51.82	55	.597

Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Most Severe Disability in a Grade for Place

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value.

Table 30

For the most severe students in preschool, kindergarten, second, and third grade the variables included in the analysis contributed significantly to the SLP's choice for where to provide intervention (See Table 30). However, only for the most severe preschooler were the SLP's adjusted caseload size and year of graduation significant predictors at the .01 level (See Table 31). Furthermore, the results in Table 32 indicate that as the adjusted caseload increased SLPs were 1.021 times more likely to provide intervention in groups outside of the classroom, 1.031 times more likely to select the resource room, and 1.026 times more likely to utilize place not listed within the survey for their most severe preschooler.

Table 31

|--|

Disability	-2 Log Likelihood	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Preschool				
Adjusted Caseload	1744.15	23.95	5	.000
Yr. of grad.	1736.39	16.18	5	.006

Table 32

Parameter Estimates: Child with Most Severe Disability in a Grade for Place

	В	SE	exp(b)	
Preschool ^a				
Group outside the				
classroom				
Adjusted				
Caseload	.021**	.006	1.021	
Resource room				
Adjusted				
Caseload	.030*	.011	1.031	
Other				
Adjusted				
Caseload	.026**	.008	1.026	

Note. The variables included in this analysis are specified in Table 26. ^a Reference category is 1 on1 outside the classroom. * Indicates significance level of .01. ** Indicates significance level of .001. B is regression weight, SE is standard error, and exp(b) is the odds ratio.

Moderate Severity for Grade by Time. The three variables included in the model for the child with a moderate disability in each grade were the SLP's year of graduation, number of years worked in the school, and his/her adjusted caseload (See Table 25). When including these variables in the model, the results presented in Table 33 indicated that the Full Model was significant for a child with a moderate disability in preschool, junior high/middle school, and high school.

Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Moderate Disability in a Grade for Time					
Grade Level	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.	
	Likelihood				
Preschool	1392.25	28.55	12	.005*	
Kindergarten	1319.66	19.77	12	.071	
First	1360.28	17.42	15	.294	
Second	1359.88	12.57	15	.636	
Third	1396.53	13.43	12	.338	
Fourth	1422.27	13.87	12	.309	
Fifth	1417.91	20.61	15	.150	
Junior High/ Middle School	1089.95	28.08	15	.021*	
High School	618.83	29.49	15	.014*	

Table 33

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value.

The adjusted caseload was the only significant variable at the .01 level for the child with a moderate disability in preschool, junior high and high school (See Table 34). Furthermore, the parameter estimates in Table 35 indicated that as the SLPs

caseload increased, a child with a moderate disability in preschool was 1.014 times more likely to select 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes or a different amount of time than what was provided within the survey. In contrast, as the adjusted caseload increased, the SLP was 0.976 times more likely to select 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. For students in junior high, the SLP was 0.978 times more likely to select 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes as their caseload increased a child as compared to 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. The SLP was also more likely to provide intervention one time a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to 2 or more times a week for 45-60 minutes (0.964 times) as well as 1 time a week for 45-60 minutes (0.975 times). In regards to high school students with a moderate disability, the likelihood of selecting one time a week for 20-30 minutes increased 0.978 times as compared to 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes and 0.898 times as compared to two or more times a week for 45-60 minutes as the SLP's adjusted caseload increased.

Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Moderate Disability in a Grade for Time				
Grade Level	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
	Likelihood			
Preschool				
Adjusted	1417.13	24.87	4	.000
Caseload				
Junior High/				
Middle School				
Adjusted	1113.81	23.86	5	.000
Caseload				
High School				
Adjusted	646.79	27.85	5	.000
Caseload				

Table 34

	В	SE	exp(b)
Preschool ^a			
1 time a week for			
20-30 min			
Adjusted			
Caseload	.014**	.005	1.014
2 or more times a			
week for 45-60			
min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	024**	.009	.976
Other			
Adjusted			
Caseload	.022	.008	1.022
Junior High/			
Middle School ^b			
2-3 times a week			
for 20-30 min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	022**	.007	.978
1 time a week for			
45-60 minutes			
Adjusted	005**	000	0.7.5
Caseload	025**	.008	.975
2 or more times a 1.6 ± 45			
week for 45-60			
min.			
Casalaad	027**	012	064
Uich School ^b	037**	.012	.904
Figh School			
2-3 times a week			
for 20-30 min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	023**	.009	.978
2 or more times a			
week for 45-60			
min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	107**	.029	.898

Table 35Parameter Estimates: Child with Moderate Disability in a Grade for Time

Note. Variables included in this model are included in Table 25. ^a The reference category is 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. ^b The reference category is 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes. * Indicates significance level of .01. ** Indicates significance level of .01. B is regression weight, SE is standard error, and exp(b) is the odds ratio.

Moderate Severity for Grade by Place. When evaluating the place that intervention was provided for a child with a moderate disability in the observed grades, the results reported in Table 36 of the Full Model indicated that the variables included (SLP's year of graduation, the number of years worked in the school, adjusted caseload, and clinical training experiences) were not significant contributors to the decision as to where a child with a moderate disability participated in intervention who was in preschool, kindergarten, third, and fifth grade. While these variables contributed to the full model significantly for a child with a moderate disability in first, second, and fourth grade, the variables were not significant at the .01 level for the Likelihood Ratio tests.

I un Mouel I fittin	Tun Woder Fitting mormation. Clinic with Woderate Disability in a Grade for Frace					
Grade	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.		
	Likelihood					
Preschool	1693.57	54.71	55	.486		
Kindergarten	1563.43	64.04	55	.189		
First	1350.185	74.31	55	.042*		
Second	1281.19	75.08	55	.037*		
Third	1195.73	71.66	55	.065		
Fourth	1225.42	75.54	55	.034*		
Fifth	1215.51	49.82	55	.672		
Junior High/ Middle School** High School**						

Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Moderate Disability in a Grade for Place

Table 36

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value. ** Model could not be run because of low occurrence of observed frequency.

Least Severe for Grade by Time. In regards to the amount of time that a child with the least severe disability in a grade participated in therapy, the variables (See Table 25) included in the Full Model were significant factors for the child with a least severe disability in kindergarten, fourth, and fifth grades as well as junior high and high school (See Table 37).

Table 37

1 IIIIC				
Grade Level	-2 Log Likelihood	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Preschool	1360.76	23.37	15	.077
Kindergarten	1500.78	29.42	15	.014*
First	1627.39	24.16	18	.150
Second	1592.35	22.42	18	.214
Third	1611.93	19.00	15	.214
Fourth	1543.86	39.05	15	.001*
Fifth	1473.24	43.68	15	.000*
Junior High/	940.52	22.90	12	.029*
High School	540.37	24.51	12	.017*

Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Least Severe Disability in a Grade for Time

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value.

Table 38 illustrates that for the child with the least severe disability in kindergarten, fourth, and fifth grade as well as high school the only variable which contributed at the modified significance level of .01 was adjusted caseload. The parameter estimates for the adjusted caseload are provided in Table 39. SLPs that had a child with the least severe disability in kindergarten, fourth grade, fifth grade, and high school were more likely (0.987, 0.946, 0.975, and 0.949 times respectively) to select one time a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. In addition, a child in kindergarten with the least severe disability was 0.946 times more likely to participate in intervention one time a for 20-30 minutes as

compared to two or more times a week for 45-60 minutes as the SLP's caseload increased. Similarly, the least severe fifth grade student as 0.941 times more likely to take part in therapy one time a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to one time a week for 45-60 minutes as the SLP's caseload size grew. Consultation was 1.013 times more likely to be chosen for the least severe fourth grade student as the caseload increased as well.

Table 38				
Likelihood Ratio	Tests: Child with	n Least Severe Dis	ability in a Gr	ade for Time
Grade Level	-2 Log	Chi-Square	Df	Sig.
	Likelihood			
Kindergarten				
Adjusted	1523.40	22.62	5	.000
Caseload				
Fourth				
Adjusted	1570.47	26.62	5	.000
Caseload				
Fifth				
			_	
Adjusted	1503.59	30.35	5	.000
Caseload				
High School				
				0.0.4
Adjusted	555.82	15.45	4	.004
Caseload				

	В	SE	exp(b)
Kindergarten ^a			
2-3 times a week			
for 20-30 min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	013**	.005	.987
2 or more times a			
week for 45-60			
min.			
Adjusted	056**	017	046
	036**	.017	.946
Fourth			
2-3 times a week			
for 20-30 min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	016*	.006	.984
Consultation			
Adjusted			
Caseload	.013*	.005	1.013
Fifth ^ª			
2-3 times a week			
for 20-30 min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	025**	.007	.975
1 time a week for			
45-60 min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	061*	.023	.941
High School ^a			
2-3 times a week			
for 20-30 min.			
Adjusted			
Caseload	052**	.016	.949
Note. Variables incl	luded in this mod	el are included in Tab	le 25. ^a The reference
category is 1 time a	week for 20-30	ninutes. * Indicates si	gnificance level of .01. **
Indicates significant	ce level of .001.	B is regression weight	, SE is standard error, and
exp(b) is the odds rate	atio.		

 Table 39

 Parameter Estimates: Child with Least Severe Disability in a Grade by Time

Least Severe for Grade by Place. In regards to the place that students with the least severe disability in varying grades were reported to participate in intervention, the variables included in the model (See Table 26) that were included in the model were significant for kindergarten, first grade, and fifth grade (See Table 40).

Table 40				
Full Model Fittin	g Information: Ch	ild with Least Sev	vere Disability in	a Grade for Place
Disability	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
	Likelihood			
Preschool	1508.58	58.30	55	.355
Kindergarten	1424.21	90.67	55	.002*
First	1344.47	84.62	55	.006*
Second**				
Third**				
Fourth**				
Fifth	1270.74	86.73	55	.004*
Junior High/ Middle School	868.38	60.95	55	.271
High School	580.10	68.31	55	.107

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value. ****** Model could not be fun because of low occurrence of observed frequency.

The SLP's year of graduation was the single variable that was significant at the .01 level for kindergarten students with the least severe disability (See Table 41). Further analysis in Table 42 indicated that as the SLP's year of graduation increased, he/she was 0.882 times more likely to utilize group therapy outside of the classroom as compared to a place not listed on the survey (other).

Table 41

Likelihood Ratio Tests: Child with Least Severe Disability in a Grade for Place

Disability	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
TZ: 1	Likeimood			
Kindergarten				
Yr. of	1440.56	16.35	5	.006
grad.				

Table 42

Parameter Estimates: Child with Least Severe Disability in a Grade for Place					
	В	SE	exp(b)		
Kindergarten ^a					
_					
Other					
Yr. of grad.	126**	.033	.882		
Note Variables included in this model are listed in Table 26 ^a Reference category is					

Note. Variables included in this model are listed in Table 26. "Reference category is group outside the classroom. * Indicates significance level of .01. ** Indicates significance level of .001. B is regression weight, SE is standard error, and exp(b) is the odds ratio.

Service Delivery in Regards to Disability

The participating SLPs also provided information regarding the amount of time and the place children with the eight most commonly occurring disabilities on their caseload as reported on the ASHA Schools Survey (2008) according to the severity of their disability. The variables that were included in the model for the multinomial logistic regression for both the amount of time and the place that intervention was provided were the same as when evaluating their services according to grade level (See Tables 25 and 26 respectively). As with the previous analyses, an alpha level of 0.05 was utilized for the Full Model. However, a more stringent alpha of 0.01 was utilized for the Likelihood Ratio Tests and Parameter Estimates in an attempt to decrease the likelihood of Type I error.

Most Severe Disability and Time. In regards to the amount of time that students participated in intervention, the variables included in the Full Model were significant for children with a severe articulation disorder, PDD, pragmatics disorder or reading disorder (See Table 43).

Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Severe Disability for Time				
Disability	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
	Likelihood			
AAC	1911.31	23.79	15	.069
Articulation	2465.93	27.38	15	.026*
Learning Disability	2194.41	24.33	18	.145
MR/DD	2246.96	23.15	15	.081
PDD	2631.65	26.74	15	.031*
Pragmatics	2585.04	26.04	15	.038*
Reading	1573.02	31.34	15	.008*
SLI	2122.68	22.32	15	.100

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value.

Table 43

The results of the Likelihood Ratio Tests (See Table 44) determined that the number of years that the SLP worked in the schools contributed significantly in regards to the amount of time students participated in intervention for children with the most severe articulation disorder and reading disorder. In addition, the year that the SLP earned his/her master's degree also impacted the amount of time that the child with the most severe articulation disorder participated in therapy. Evaluating

these variables further, however, resulted in significant results at the .01 level for an amount of time other than the choices provided on the survey (See Table 45). Specifically, as the year that the SLP earned his/her master's degree increased, the SLP's odds of choosing 2-3 times a week increased 0.938 times. In addition, as the years the SLP worked in the school increased the likelihood of the SLP selecting 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes increased 0.939 times.

Table 44 Likelihood Ratio	Tests: Child with	Most Severe Dis	ability for Time	
Disability	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
	Likelihood			
Articulation				
Yr. earned	2482.81	16.88	5	.005
MA				
Yrs.	2481.28	15.35	5	.009
worked in				
school				
Reading				
Yrs.	1588.58	15.56	5	.008
worked in				
school				
	В	SE	exp(b)	
---------------------------	-------	------	--------	--
Articulation ^a				
Other				
Yr. earned				
MA degree	064**	.018	.938	
Yrs. worked				
in school	063*	.020	.939	

Table 45Parameter Estimates: Child with Most Severe Disability for Time

Note. Variables included in this model are listed in Table 25. ^a The reference category is 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. * Indicates significance level of .01. ** Indicates significance level of .001. B is regression weight, SE is standard error, and exp(b) is the odds ratio.

Most Severe Disability and Place. The SLPs provided information regarding the place that the most severe student with each of the eight disabilities participated in intervention. Table 46 indicates that for children with the most severe articulation disorder, learning disability, and PDD these variables contributed significantly to the Full Model.

Table 46Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Most Severe Disability for Place					
Disability	-2 Log Likelihood	Chi-Square	df	Sig.	
AAC	1926.00	44.17	55	.852	
Articulation	2408.37	116.65	55	.000*	
Learning Disability	2026.71	77.039	55	.027*	
MR/DD	2498.72	51.12	55	.624	
PDD	2882.62	98.07	55	.000*	
Pragmatics	2486.05	72.23	55	.059	
Reading	1419.61	69.00	55	.097	
SLI	2056.09	67.39	55	.122	

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value.

For the child with the most severe articulation disorder, the SLP's caseload size significantly impacted the choice regarding the place to provide intervention (See Table 47). In addition, whether or not the SLP had experience with one-on-one training outside the classroom impacted where the student with the most severe PDD participated in therapy.

.

Table 47					
Likelihoo	d Ratio '	Tests: Child with	Most Severe Dis	ability for Place	
Disabi	lity	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
		Likelihood			
Articulati	on				
Adju Case PDD	usted eload	2466.59	58.22	5	.000
Trai on 1 outs clas	ning 1 ide the sroom	2900.60	17.99	5	.003

In particular, the children with the most severe articulation disorder were 1.014 times more likely to participate in intervention in a group outside of the classroom as the caseload increased, 1.015 more likely to participate in intervention in the resource room or 1.020 more likely to have intervention in a setting other than that listed on the survey. In addition, as the SLP's caseload increased the student was 0.950 times more likely to receive intervention one-on-one outside of the classroom as compared to the general education classroom (See Table 48). For students with PDD at the most severe severity level, the odds of the SLP providing intervention within the resource room as compared to one-on-one outside the classroom increased 0.161 times if the SLP had training one-on-one outside the classroom. Similarly, if the SLP had participated in training one-on-one outside the classroom, the odds of the student participating in intervention one-on-one outside the classroom increased 0.414 times as compared to a group outside of the classroom (See Table 48).

	В	SE	exp(b)
Articulation ^a			
Group outside the			
classroom			
Adjusted	.014**	.004	1.014
Caseload			
In the classroom			
Adjusted			
Caseload	051**	.011	.950
Resource room			
Adjusted			
Caseload	.015*	.006	1.015
Other			
Adjusted			
Caseload	.020**	.005	1.020
PDD ^a			
Resource Room			
Training 1			
on1 outside			
the classroom	-1.829**	.515	.161
Group outside the			
classroom			
Training 1			
on1 outside			
the classroom	882**	.333	.414

Table 48Parameter Estimates: Child with Most Severe Disability for Place

Note. Variables included in this model are available in Table 26. ^a Reference category is 1 on1 outside the classroom. * Indicates significance level of .01. ** Indicates significance level of .001. B is regression weight, SE is standard error, and exp(b) is the odds ratio.

Moderate Disability and Time. The variables listed in Table 25 did not contribute significantly to their choice for the amount of time to provide intervention. The results in Table 49 indicate that for all eight disabilities evaluated, the SLP's decision regarding the amount of time to provide intervention was not significantly impacted (α =.05) by the variables included in the Full Model.

Table 49 Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Moderate Disability for Time					
Disability	-2 Log Likelihood	Chi-Square	df	Sig.	
Articulation	2164.26	14.68	15	.474	
AAC	1444.55	23.29	15	.078	
Learning Disability	2123.26	16.49	15	.350	
MR/DD	1888.12	18.35	15	.245	
PDD	2349.03	23.40	15	.076	
Pragmatics	2416.11	17.33	15	.300	
Reading	1568.03	15.74	15	.400	
SLI	2043.10	14.24	15	.507	

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value.

Moderate Disability and Place. The variables included in the Full Model for the place that intervention was provided to the students (See Table 26) with a moderate disability were significant for children with a moderate articulation disorder, learning disability, PDD, and pragmatics disorder (See Table 50).

Table 50

Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Moderate Disability for Place					
Disability	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.	
	Likelihood				
AAC	1604.32	55.70	55	.448	
Articulation	1938.03	102.43	55	.000*	
Learning Disability	1713.82	82.92	55	.009*	
MR/DD	2013.27	57.29	55	.390	
PDD	2455.57	81.43	55	.012*	
Pragmatics	2114.24	77.04	55	.027*	
Reading**					
SLI**					

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value. ****** Model could not be run because of low occurrence of observed frequency.

Table 51 indicates that for children with a moderate articulation disorder the SLP's adjusted caseload impacts the place that intervention is provided. Specifically, as the SLP's adjusted caseload increased the student was 0.971 times more likely to have therapy in a group outside the classroom as compared to one-on-one outside of the classroom. Similarly, the probability of having intervention in a group outside of the classroom increased 0.959 times in comparison to therapy in the general education classroom as the SLP's adjusted caseload increases (See Table 52).

In addition, clinical training during graduate school in which the SLP had participated in shared teaching with a middle school teacher also impacted where a child with PDD at a moderate severity level took part in therapy (See Table 51). SLPs who had taken part in a shared teaching experience with a middle school teacher during graduate school training were 6.039 times more likely to provide intervention within the resource room and 2.639 times more likely to take part in therapy one-onone outside the classroom as compared to a group outside the classroom (See Table 52).

Disability	-2 Log Likelihood	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Articulation				
Adjusted Caseload	1989.03	51.25	5	.000
PDD				
Shared teaching with Middle School Teacher	2471.73	16.16	5	.006

	В	SE	exp(b)
Articulation ^a			
1 on1 outside the			
classroom			
Adjusted			
Caseload	029**	.006	.971
In the classroom			
Adjusted			
Caseload	041**	.010	.959
PDD ^a			
Resource Room			
Shared			
teaching with			
Middle			
School			
Teacher	1.798**	.565	6.039
1 on1 outside the			
classroom			
Shared			
teaching with			
Middle			
School			
Teacher	.970**	.372	2.639

Table 52Parameter Estimates: Child with Moderate Disability for Place

Note. The variables included in this model are available in Table 26. ^a Reference category is Group outside the classroom. * Indicates significance level of .01. ** Indicates significance level of .001. B is regression weight, SE is standard error, and exp(b) is the odds ratio.

Least Severe Disability and Time. The Full Model was significant for the

Full Model Fitting Information: Child with Least Severe Disability for Time Disability -2 Log Chi-Square df Sig. Likelihood Articulation 2429.26 13.12 15 .593 AAC 1350.65 13.89 15 .534 Learning 2189.46 21.87 15 .111 Disability MR/DD 1833.66 11.91 15 .686 PDD 26.78 15 .031* 2331.14 Pragmatics** Reading** SLI .061 2174.45 24.26 15

students with the least severe diagnosis of PDD (See Table 53).

Table 53

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value. ****** Unable to complete analyses due to low occurrence of observed frequency.

The year in which the SLP obtained his/her master's degree was a significant predictor for a student with the least severe PDD (See Table 54). As the SLP's year of graduation increased, the SLP was 0.917 times more likely to select one time a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to an amount of time not listed on the survey (other) (See Table 55).

Disability	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
	Likelihood			
PDD				
Yr. earned	2346.23	15.086	5	.010
MA				
Fable 55	tes: Child with 1	Laget Savara Dical	nility for Time	
Table 55 Parameter Estima	ttes: Child with	Least Severe Disal	bility for Time	
Table 55 Parameter Estima	ttes: Child with B	Least Severe Disal	oility for Time SE	exp(b)
Table 55 Parameter Estima PDD ^a	ttes: Child with B	Least Severe Disal	oility for Time SE	exp(b)
Table 55 Parameter Estima PDD ^a Other	ttes: Child with B	Least Severe Disat	oility for Time SE	exp(b)
Table 55 Parameter Estima PDD ^a Other Yr. earned	ttes: Child with B	Least Severe Disat	oility for Time SE	exp(b)

category is 1 time a week for 20-30 minutes. B is regression weight, SE is standard error, and exp(b) is the odds ratio.

Least Severe Disability and Place. While the least severe students with an articulation disorder, PDD, or pragmatics disorder did have results that were significant in the Full Model (See Table 56) the Likelihood Ratio Tests for the variables which were included (See Table 26) were not significant at the .01 alpha level as required for further analysis.

Table 56	Table 56						
Full Model Fitti	ng Information: Cl	hild with Least Se	vere Disability for	or Place			
Disability	-2 Log	Chi-Square	df	Sig.			
	Likelihood						
AAC	1374.57	56.60	55	.415			
Articulation	2278.46	74.55	55	.041*			
Learning Disability	1851.01	66.27	55	.142			
MR/DD	1783.60	50.02	55	.665			
PDD	2172.37	75.90	55	.032*			
Pragmatics	2050.39	80.31	55	.015*			
Reading**							
SLI	1807.91	72.06	55	.061			

Note. Asterisk indicates significant value. ****** Model could not be fun because of low occurrence of observed frequency.

Summary of Results

SLPs reported that their decisions in regards to the time and place that intervention was provided were most influenced by the child characteristics. Table 57 summarizes their top three considerations. In regards to both time and place, the SLPs identified the nature and severity of the child's disorder most often. However, little variation was observed in amount of time and place that intervention was reported. For instance, children with severe disabilities and children with moderate disabilities were both most likely to participate in intervention 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes. This result did not change when accounting for the child's grade level or type of disability. In regards to the place, students were most often seen in groups outside of the classroom regardless of their grade or disability (See Table 57).

Additional analysis of the workplace and SLP factors was conducted using multinomial logistic regression. In regards to time of services, adjusted caseload was found to be a significant factor most often (See Table 57). Overall, the data indicated that as adjusted caseload increased, the students were 0.898 to 1.031 times more likely to participate in interventions for smaller amounts of time.

In regards to the place of intervention, the multinomial logistic regression indicated that adjusted caseload size was again a factor (0.882 times to 1.031 times). Table 57 also indicates that the SLP's clinical training experiences also significantly impacted decisions regarding the place for intervention. For instance, SLPs who had experience with shared teaching with a middle school teacher during their graduate

school training were six times more likely to provide intervention within the resource

room.

Table 57	
Summary of R	lesults
Question 1	What is the opinion of SLPs with respect to the impact of SLP,
	workplace, and child factors when making decisions about time and
	place for service delivery?
	Time- All child factors
	1. nature and severity of the child's disorder
	2. child's communication needs in relation to the general
	education curriculum
	3. curriculum child's strengths, needs, and emerging abilities
	Place- All child factors
	1. nature and severity of the child's disorder
	2. child's communication needs in relation to the general
	education curriculum
	3. child's strengths, needs, and emerging abilities
Question 2	What are the child factors (severity, grade level, and disability)
	associated with time and place of service delivery?
	Time
	• Children with severe disabilities and children with moderate
	disabilities: 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes
	• Children with least severe disability: 1 time a week for 20-30
	minutes
	Place
	Group intervention outside of the classroom
Question 3	Which of the SLP and workplace factors are the best fit for the
	SIDM model?
	Time
	Adjusted caseload
	• SLP's year of graduation with Master's degree
	• Number of years worked in the schools
	Place
	 Adjusted caseload
	• SLP's year of graduation with Master's degree
	Clinical training experiences

Discussion

Providing intervention in the schools requires extensive skills and knowledge on the part of the SLP. Following diagnosis, the SLP has to determine which approach to use as well as where and for how long to provide services. These decisions are sometimes, although not typically, determined by the SLP alone. As Table 14 indicated, 33.6% of the SLPs independently determined the place and time for providing intervention as compared to 49.1% who utilized the input of the team when making these service delivery decisions.

The results of this study reflect the complexity of the decision-making process for SLPs. There was disparity between what SLPs stated were the most important considerations when determining the time and place for intervention and their actual practice. Using the SIDM model components as factors that are important considerations for service delivery decisions, one can begin to understand the SLP's decision-making with respect to child, workplace and SLP characteristics. Specifically, SLPs indicated that child characteristics were the most important factors for deciding when and how often to see children on their caseload. This being the case, one would expect that children with different disabilities and children with different levels of severity would be seen for different number amounts of time and different places depending on the needs of the child. It might be expected that for a student with a severe disability, more intensive services in a one-on-one setting would result in greater gains as compared to a lesser amount of in a group setting where the child would likely have fewer practice opportunities. In contrast, a child with a disability that is less severe may likely benefit from intervention for less time within his/her natural setting (e.g., the general education classroom) in order to generalize the skills that have been targeted. Similarly, it is possible that for children who are younger, an SLP might want to provide more intensive interventions in an attempt to quickly remediate the child's speech and/or language skills so that she/he would no longer necessitate services. However, this was not what the SLP reported data revealed. Instead, children with severe disabilities as well as those with moderate disabilities were most likely to participate in intervention 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes in groups outside of the classroom regardless of their disorder or grade. For children with the least severe disability, services were again most often provided in groups outside of the classroom but for one time a week for 20-30 minutes. Thus, there was a lessening of time of intervention, but only for children with the least severe disability. However, the place of intervention stayed the same regardless of severity, grade, or disability type. These findings are consistent with the ASHA School Surveys (2006, 2008) as well as the NOMS data (ASHA, 2002b) which indicated that the majority of intervention is provided outside of the general education classroom in groups for 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes.

The findings suggest that other factors within the SIDM model, such as workplace characteristics or SLP characteristics may be influencing the SLP's decisions as little variation was seen across grade levels, disability and severity levels. Further analysis of the workplace characteristics within the SIDM model indicated that the SLP's caseload size impacted the amount of time and the place that

intervention was offered. This finding is consistent with that of Dowden et al. (2006) and provides more specific information on the impact of caseload size upon decisionmaking. Specifically, the current study identified that in some instances the caseload size affected the probability of the child participating in certain amounts of intervention and in some locations. For instance, preschool children with a severe disability were 1.017 times more likely to participate in intervention one time a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes for each additional child on the SLP's caseload. In general, the current study found that as the SLP's caseload increased in size, the children were more likely to participate in intervention for lesser amounts of time. In regards to place, children were less likely to participate in one-on-one intervention outside of the classroom as the SLP's caseload increased. These results indicate that larger caseloads result in less intervention time and intervention in larger group settings for students participating in speech and language intervention.

The type of services provided by a school SLP also were influenced by SLP factors such as the year in which he/she graduated and the number of years he/she has worked within the schools. For instance, the more recent the SLP's year of graduation, intervention was 0.915 times more likely to be provided 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to 1 time a week for 45-60 minutes for a kindergarten child with the most severe disability. Similarly, SLPs were 0.882 times more likely to select 'other' as the place where intervention was provided for the least severe kindergartener as compared to group intervention outside of the classroom. Also, the

more years experience an SLP had resulted in the most severe kindergartner being 0.852 times more likely to participate in therapy 2-30 times a week for 20-30 minutes as compared to 1 time a week for 45-60 minutes.

These results indicate that SLPs who have graduated more recently as well as those who have worked longer in the schools are more likely to provide intervention 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes in group setting outside of the classroom. It is possible that SLPs with less experience are involved in learning how to work within their new environment. Therefore, they may be less likely to provide intervention in a manner that is not considered typical by his/her co-workers. In regards to the SLPs with more experience, the results of the current study also indicate that SLPs with the greatest amount of experience are less likely to vary the amount of time and place for intervention. Similar to the newly trained SLPs, the SLPs who have worked longer may have a greater focus on adapting to their evolving role within the educational system, the increasing technological demands, and the increasing amounts of paperwork.

Further, there was some limited evidence that the clinical experiences that an SLP had during his/her graduate school experience impacted the types of decisions made later when he/she is working in the schools. For instance, SLPs who had a shared teaching experience with a middle school or high school teacher during graduate school were more than six times more likely to provide therapy in the resource room and more than 2.5 times more likely to provide therapy one-on-one outside of the classroom as compared to group intervention outside of the classroom

for a child with moderate PDD. This finding would imply that the type of clinical training experiences an SLP has impacts the place that he/she provides intervention later.

There are four possible explanations for why the time and place of service delivery was similar for many of the children on the SLPs' caseloads. First, SLPs may believe that this amount of time and place is appropriate for a child to make appropriate gains. There was some limited confirmation of this explanation from the email questionnaires in which two SLPs indicated that 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes in groups outside of the classroom was sufficient. Unfortunately, there are no studies that have evaluated the claim that 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minute sessions in group settings outside the classroom is an effective service delivery model. Therefore, there is a need for efficacy studies to evaluate whether students who are currently receiving speech and language services within the schools are making adequate progress not only on their goals but also improving their performance within the general education classroom.

A second explanation for the lack of variation observed in regards to the time and place of speech and language services could be that SLP decisions are made based on their training. This explanation is supported by two findings. First, clinical training for a majority of the respondents was individual and group intervention outside of the classroom, Second SLPs reported providing the majority of intervention in groups or individually outside of the classroom regardless of the child's grade, disability, or severity of the disorder. However, further statistical

analysis found that the decisions for SLPs who had experienced shared teaching with a middle school teacher or individual intervention were significantly less likely to select the same place for intervention for their students with PDD as compared to other SLPs. It is possible that current training practices are not adequately preparing students to provide intervention in multiple settings and for varying amounts of time. It is unlikely that university programs can ensure that SLPs are provided an opportunity to experience every possible place and amount of intervention that could be utilized within the schools during field studies or student teaching experiences. However, clinical supervisors could supply students more varied clinical experiences under their own supervision by offering therapy within a student's school. In addition, more direct instruction within the coursework regarding how to provide intervention for varying times and places may be needed. Furthermore, students may benefit from the opportunity to reflect on the appropriateness of their clinical training experiences within a clinical processes course, a course on professional issues or through the direct guidance of clinical instructors. The ability to critically reflect upon the efficacy of the intervention which was provided during onsite training (e.g., field studies or student teaching experience) could assist students in making more appropriate intervention decisions later. The impact of changes such as those described on the provision of intervention by SLPs also needs to be evaluated to determine which components result in changes in current practice.

A third explanation for the findings is that the overall goal of SLP services within the schools is compensation and not remediation. Olswang and Bain (1991)

describe two ways in which an SLP can remediate a child's speech or language disorder. The first is to provide intervention to alter the underlying problem. Another way in which the SLP can improve a child's speech and language skills is to target specific linguistic behaviors. The third potential goal for intervention which Olswang and Bain (1991) describe is to focus on compensation. The objective with this intervention would be to teach strategies which offset the child's language disability. If the SLP is working toward helping the child be successful in his/her classroom, the observed amounts of time and place reported by SLPs in this study may be sufficient to do so. The limited empirical research which is currently available focuses on the remediation of a child's speech and/or language skills (Cirrin and Gillam, 2007; McCauley & Fey, 2006). These studies often provide services in an intense manner for a short period of time and have been shown to elicit significant gains in the child's speech and language skills. It is possible that SLPs within the schools are instead providing students compensatory strategies so he/she can be successful within the general education classroom. However, if this is the case, there again need to be studies to evaluate this practice and determine whether or not students do make adequate gains on the classroom curriculum.

Lastly, it is possible that the SLPs' decisions regarding the type of intervention is based upon the child's characteristics. In contrast, the selection for how often and where to provide therapy is based upon the team's input. The current study indicated that almost half of the SLPs made their decision regarding the amount of time and place to provide intervention after receiving input from the team. In

contrast, approximately one-third of the SLPs made the choice for time and place independently. If this is the case, then SLPs may not be basing their decisions on the needs of the child. Rather, they may adjust the amount of time and place of intervention to better fit the input of their co-workers. When questioned further within the email survey, SLPs did report the difficulty of scheduling given the demands of the school schedule and the input of their co-workers. Given these preliminary findings in regards to the possible impact of a child's team on the time and place intervention is provided, future research needs to evaluate this variable further in order to better understand its full impact.

Limitations

The current study is limited in its findings in that the response rate was 23% for the online survey and 40% for the email interview. In contrast, the ASHA School Surveys (2004, 2006, 2008) have had response rates of 69.7%, 64.9%, and 64% respectively. However, according to Sax, Gilmartin, and Bryant (2003) response rates of 19.8% could be expected for a web-only survey in which the participant has no incentives. In addition, Dillman et al. (2009) indicate that response rates are only one way in which to measure the reliability and validity of a survey's results. Furthermore, Dillman et al. (2009) state that the completed sample size is more critical in determining whether the results represent the population. In the case of the present study, the completed sample size needed for the 95% confidence interval with a margin of error +/- 3% was 1,087.

Despite the response rate being lower than the Schools Survey (ASHA, 2008), the current study is similar to ASHA's 2008 Schools Survey demographic composition. The percentage of SLPs from suburban, rural and urban schools is comparable to ASHA (2008). In addition, the mean adjusted caseload is the relatively the same as the ASHA Schools Survey (2008). Unlike the 2008 ASHA Schools Survey, the current study was able to acquire participants from each state as well as Washington, D.C. In order for the study to reflect practices within the school setting nationally, it was important to account for the variations which can be observed between states by providing the opportunity for SLPs from each state to respond.

In addition to the limited response rate, the current study required SLPs to select the amount of time and the place for delivery of speech and language services from predetermined choices. It is possible, that the survey was not sensitive to the types of variations in service delivery that SLPs utilize when making their choices regarding how often and where to provide intervention. However, SLPs were provided the opportunity to select "other" when answering the questions. Therefore, variations not captured within the predetermined choices should have been noted.

Future Research

Prior to the current study, there was no research that had been conducted regarding the time and place that services were being provided within the schools which took into consideration the role of child, workplace, and SLP characteristics. In addition to evaluating the factors within the SIDM model, this study has provided data about how often students participate in intervention depending on their grade,

their disability, and the severity of their disorder. The results of this study have given rise to several future research studies. First, SLPs may have chosen the same time and place for intervention for a majority of their students because, in their experience, they have found this service delivery to be sufficient to make progress toward a child's IEP goal(s). To determine if this is accurate, studies need to be conducted to examine student progress to determine if intervention for 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes results in change on a student's goals. It may be that this time and place is sufficient, but that it takes a longer period of time to achieve language competency. That is, it may take two years to meet goals that might take a shorter period of time if more intensive therapy was provided. Studies that compare different times and different places of therapy and their outcome are needed to determine the effects of these variables. Currently, most published research which has been demonstrated to be effective has been conducted for intense amounts of time over a short period (Cirrin & Gillam, 2007; Throneburg et al., 2000). The results of the current study indicated that block scheduling is rarely utilized in the schools. Future efficacy studies need to be conducted by individuals who are not providing the intervention in an effort to reduce potential bias. In addition, these assessments should be multifaceted. For instance, assessment should include an evaluation of the student's progress according to SLP documentation, standardized speech and/or language tests, language sample, and performance in the classroom (e.g., state assessment scores).

Lastly, continued evaluation of the SIDM model needs to be conducted. The other factors which were included in the model such as administrative support and the

SLP's relationship with co-workers should be evaluated more thoroughly. Little variation was observed regarding administrative support and the SLP's relationship with co-workers. However, upon further probing within the email survey, SLPs discussed difficulties providing therapy due to these two factors. This lack of continuity between the survey and email interview indicates a need to more thoroughly evaluate these variables in order to begin to understand the degree to which they impact SLP decisions regarding time and place. In addition, a more direct analysis of the factors contained within the SIDM model may find that there are additional components not currently present in the SIDM model that affect the decisions that SLPs make regarding their service delivery.

References

American Speech-Language Hearing Association. (2000). *Guidelines for the Roles* and Responsibilities of the School-Based Speech-Language Pathologist [Guidelines]. Available from www.asha.org/policy.

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2002a). A Workload Analysis
 Approach for Establishing Speech-Language Caseload Standards in the School:
 Position Statement [Position Statement]. Available from www.asha.org/policy.

- American Speech-Language Hearing Association. (2002b). A Workload Analysis Approach for Establishing Speech-Language Caseload Standards in the Schools: Technical Report [Technical Report]. Available from <u>www.asha.org/policy</u>.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2004). 2004 Schools survey report: Caseload characteristics. Rockville, MD: Author.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2005). Evidence-Based Practice in Communication Disorders [Position Statement]. Available from www.asha.org/policy.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2006). 2006 Schools survey report: Caseload characteristics. Rockville, MD: Author.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2008). 2008 Schools survey report: Caseload characteristics. Rockville, MD: Author.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (n.d.a). *K-6 schools NOMS fact sheet: what affects students' progress? Treatment time.* Retrieved April 3, 2008

from http://www.asha.org/NR/rdonlyres/3C1BEF28-2265-434D-B8B4-3DE3B6AB878D/0/K6SchoolsNOMS_FactSheet.pdf.

- Cirrin, F.M., & Gillam, R.B. (2008). Language intervention practices for school-age children with spoken language disorders: A systematic review. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 39*, S110-S137.
- Dillman, D.A., Smyth, J.D., & Christian, L.M. (2009). *Internet, Mail, and Mixed-Mode Surveys: The Tailored Design Method*. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Dowden, P., Alarcon, N., Vollan, T., Cumley, G.D., Kuehn, C.M., & Amtmann, D. (2006). Survey of SLP caseloads in Washington state schools: Implications and strategies for action. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 37*, 104-117.
- Friend, M., & Cook, L. (2007). Interactions: Collaboration Skills for School Professionals (5th ed.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 2004, P.L. 108-446.

- Kamhi, A. (2006). Treatment decisions for children with speech-sound disorders. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 37, 271-279.
- McCauley, R.J., & Fey, M.E. (2006). *Treatment of Language Disorders in Children*. Baltimore: Brookes.

No Child Left Behind Act. (2001). Pub. Law. No. 107-110, 115 Stat. 1425.

Olswang, L.B. & Bain, B.A. (1991). Intervention issues for toddlers with specific language impairments. *Topics in Language Disorders*, *11*(4), 69-86.

- Paul, R. (2007). Language Disorders from Infancy through Adolescence: Assessment and Intervention. St. Louis: Mosby.
- Peña, E.D., & Quinn, R. (2003). Developing effective collaboration teams in speechlanguage pathology: A case study. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 24(2), 53-63.
- Praisner, C.L. (2003). Attitudes of elementary school principals toward the inclusion of students with disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, 69(2), 135-145.
- Salisbury, C.L. (2006). Principals' perspectives on inclusive elementary schools. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, *31*(1), 70-82.
- Sax, L.J., Gilmartin, S.K., & Bryant, A.N. (2003). Assessing response rate and nonresponsive bias in web and paper surveys. *Research in Higher Education*, 44(4), 409-432.
- *Throneburg*, R., Calvert, L., Sturm, J., Paramboukas, A., & Paul, P. (2000). A comparison of service delivery models: Effects on curricular vocabulary skills in the school setting. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, *9*, 10-20.
- Tyler, A. (2005). Planning and monitoring intervention programs. In A. Kamhi & K. Pollock (Eds.), *Phonological disorders in children: Clinical decision making in assessment and intervention* (pp. 123-137). Baltimore: Brooks.
- Warren, S.F., Fey, M.E., & Yoder, P.J. (2007). Differential treatment intensity research: A missing link to creating optimally effective communication interventions. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 13, 70-77.

Zipoli, Jr., R.P. Kennedy, M. (2005). Evidence-based practice among speechlanguage pathologists: Attitudes, utilization, and barriers. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 14*, 208-220.

Appendix A

Definitions of Child Characteristics

- **The child's strengths, needs, and emerging abilities**. The skills that are targeted in relation to the typical developmental process, those that are mastered, and the areas of deficit that require intervention when deciding the amount of time and place that intervention is provided.
- **The need for peer modeling**. The SLP's consideration regarding the child's necessity to observe and evaluate the skills of peers as part of his/her individualized education plan.
- **The child's communication needs in relation to his/her general education curriculum**. – Evaluation of the child's current goals and determination as to where and how often to provide intervention must integrate the general education curriculum as mandated by IDEA (2004).
- **The nature and severity of the child's disorder**. The type of disability and the degree to which it impedes the child's ability to successfully learn and participate in the general education classroom should impact the frequency that a child receives intervention as well as where the intervention is provided.
- **The motivation and attitude of the child.** The child's willingness to participate, practice, and evaluate his/her own skills can impact decisions regarding the best place, duration and frequency of intervention. Related issues such as the child's level of comfort during intervention can also impact these choices.
- **The child's age and developmental level**. Consideration by the SLP regarding the child's ability to productively engage in the activities as it is impacted by the child's age and skill level.

Appendix B

Number of Participants to be Selected by State

			No. Needed for
State	Population	% US Pop.	Sample
Alabama	4,447,100	0.016	156
Alaska	626,932	0.002	22
Arizona	5,130,632	0.018	180
Arkansas	2,673,400	0.009	94
California	33,871,648	0.120	1188
Colorado	4,301,261	0.015	151
Connecticut	3,405,565	0.012	119
Delaware	783,600	0.003	27
Florida	15,982,378	0.057	560
Georgia	8,186,453	0.029	287
Hawaii	1,211,537	0.004	42
Idaho	1,293,953	0.005	45
Illinois	12,419,293	0.044	435
Indiana	6,080,485	0.022	213
Iowa	2,926,324	0.010	103
Kansas	2,688,418	0.010	94
Kentucky	4,041,769	0.014	142
Louisiana	4,468,976	0.016	157
Maine	1,274,923	0.005	45
Maryland	5,296,486	0.019	186
Massachusetts	6,349,097	0.023	223
Michigan	9,938,444	0.035	348
Minnesota	4,919,479	0.017	173
Mississippi	2,844,658	0.010	100
Missouri	5,595,211	0.020	196
Montana	902,195	0.003	32
Nebraska	1,711,263	0.006	60
Nevada	1,998,257	0.007	70
New Hampshire	1,235,786	0.004	43
New Jersey	8,414,350	0.030	295
New Mexico	1,819,046	0.006	64
New York	18,976,457	0.067	665
North Carolina	8,049,313	0.029	282
North Dakota	642,200	0.002	23
Ohio	11,353,140	0.040	398
Oklahoma	3,450,654	0.012	121

			No. Needed for
State	Population	% US Pop.	Sample
Oregon	3,421,399	0.012	120
Pennsylvania	12,281,054	0.044	431
Rhode Island	1,048,319	0.004	37
South Carolina	4,012,012	0.014	141
South Dakota	754,844	0.003	26
Tennessee	5,689,283	0.020	199
Texas	20,851,820	0.074	731
Utah	2,233,169	0.008	78
Vermont	608,827	0.002	21
Virginia	7,078,515	0.025	248
Washington	5,894,121	0.021	207
West Virginia	1,808,344	0.006	63
Wisconsin	5,363,675	0.019	188
Wyoming	493,782	0.002	17
Washington D.C.	572,059	0.002	20

Appendix C

Survey of Speech-Language Services In the School

As a school speech-language pathologist, you have many demands upon your time and skills. In an effort to better understand these demands, we would appreciate your response to the statements and questions below. Your name will not be associated with publication or reporting of these data. Your answers will provide us with insight into your service delivery choices. During the course of this questionnaire, you will be asked questions regarding the composition of your caseload. Please have this information readily available. The questionnaire will take 10 to 15 minutes to complete.

Section I: Demographic Information

1. What year did you graduate with your Master's degree in Speech-Language Pathology? _____

2. How many years have you worked as a Speech-Language Pathologist within the schools? _____

3. Please mark all of the places in which you participated in clinical training as part of your university clinic, field study site, or externship during your graduate school experience.

- □ Delivering one-on-one intervention outside the classroom
- □ Delivering group intervention outside the classroom
- □ Delivering intervention in the resource room
- □ Delivering intervention in a self-contained classroom
- □ Delivering classroom-based intervention for preschoolers
- □ Delivering classroom-based intervention with shared teaching in elementary classroom
- □ Delivering intervention in elementary classroom in which did not work directly with classroom teacher.
- □ Delivering intervention in the general education classroom, but off to the side, not part of the general education classroom activity
- □ Delivering intervention in Middle and High School classroom in which you shared planning and teaching with the classroom teacher
- □ Delivering intervention in Middle and High School classroom independent of the classroom teacher
- \Box Consultation with school personnel

Definitions:

Outside the Classroom: Providing students intervention in a place that is not in the general education classroom but is not a self-contained classroom or resource room (e.g., the SLP's office or classroom, the hallway, or a conference room)

In the Classroom: Providing students intervention within the general education classroom and in conjunction with the activities being completed by their peers as well as occurring in the same area of the room as their peers (not at a table away from the class completing differing activities as his/her peers).

4. Please indicate the amount of instruction and feedback you received from your supervisor during your clinical fellowship year (CFY).

- □ No suggestions or feedback for improvement
- \Box General suggestions for improvement (e.g., goal writing, intervention strategies)
- □ Specific suggestions for improvement in your intervention on five children or less (e.g., intervention goals or place for intervention)
- □ Specific suggestions for improvement in your intervention on six or more children (e.g., intervention goals or place for intervention)
- \Box Other

5. Please indicate any of the following types of professional development which you have completed in the last 5 years NOT including graduate training.

- \Box Read journals
- \Box Attended state conference(s)
- \Box Attended national conference(s)
- \Box Attended seminar
- \Box Completed college course
- □ District training
- \Box On-line programs
- □ Teleseminars
- 6. Which of the following best describes the area which your school district serves?
 - □ Rural
 - □ Suburban
 - □ Urban

7. Please specify the number of students on your caseload who are in the following grades:

Preschool	
Elementary	
Middle School/Junior High	
High School	
TOTAL	

8. Please check the appropriate description regarding your current employment status as a school SLP.

- □ Full-time
- \Box Part-time (anything less than 100%)
- 9. For any of the children that you provide intervention, do you use block scheduling? Block scheduling is defined as when the child is seen 4 to 5 times a week for 3 to 6 weeks followed by a break for the same amount of time.
 - □ Yes
 - \Box No
10. Please select the teaming model that best matches the one used at your primary school.

- □ Multidisciplinary Team members provide services independent of one another with a single person responsible for final decisions. There is little to no collaboration or communication between service providers. Similar to the medical model.
- □ Interdisciplinary Team members, including the family, provide services independent of one another with shared and equal decision making ability. These teams often utilize a coordinator for each child, and team members will collaborate with one another.
- □ Transdisciplinary Services are provided by one or two professionals with other professionals providing consultation and training. A case coordinator is utilized, and the family is involved throughout the process.
- \Box Other

11. Which of the following statements best describes how you determine the amount of time and the place a child will participate in speech and language intervention?

- □ I, the speech-language pathologist, determine the best place and for how long intervention is provided based upon my knowledge and the severity of the child's disability.
- □ The child's team members work together to determine the best place and for how long speech and language intervention is provided.
- □ I, the speech-language pathologist, determine the best place and for how long intervention will be provided after receiving input from other team members.

12. Please specify the number of children seen in group intervention sessions during a typical week.

13. Please specify the number of students seen in individual intervention sessions during a typical week.

14. Please specify the number of students on your caseload seen in the following places.

 General education classroom within class setting
General education classroom in small group or
 individually
 Outside the classroom (e.g., speech room)
Resource room
Self-contained classroom
 Other

Definitions: Outside the Classroom: Providing students intervention in a place that is not in the general education classroom but is not a self-contained classroom or resource room (e.g., the SLP's office or classroom, the hallway, or a conference room)

In the Classroom: Providing students intervention within the general education classroom and in conjunction with the activities being completed by their peers as well as occurring in the same area of the room as their peers (not at a table away from the class completing differing activities as his/her peers).

15. Please specify the typical amount of time spent on the following activities each week at work.

Direct intervention for IEP students
 Consultation
 Meetings (pre-referral, IEP, assessment)
 Paperwork
 Pre-referral intervention (Tier II interventions.
 interventions for children not yet on caseload)
Supervising speech therapy assistant
 Professional development
 Other

16. Please select the person that is most likely to conduct on-site observations of your intervention/assessments as part of your school contract.

- Nobody observes me

 Special education supervisor (not Speech-Language Pathologist)

 Building administrator (e.g., principal, assistant principal)

 Speech-Language Pathologist (district supervisor)
- _____ Speech-Language Pathologist (peer)
- Other

17. How many different classrooms have students on your caseload? For example, an SLP who sees five first graders who are in the same classroom would have only one. In contrast, an SLP with five first graders in two different classrooms would have two.

18. How many teachers do you consult with regarding students on your caseload during the typical week?

19. For how many classrooms do you provide intervention in the general education classroom during the typical week?

20. During a typical week, for how many students do you provide intervention that are not on your caseload (e.g., Tier II services or children who are in the evaluation process)?

21. How much time during the typical week do you spend providing intervention to students in the process of being evaluated (Tier II services)?

22. Does your administration in the school allow you to provide speech and language services for the AMOUNT OF TIME necessary to improve the child's skills? Yes No Sometimes

23. Does your administration in the school allow you to provide speech and language services in the PLACE necessary to improve the child's skills? Yes No Sometimes

24. For the students on your caseload, for how many did you have to adjust the amount of time due to a student's level of motivation?

25. For the students on your caseload, for how many did you have to adjust the PLACE you provided intervention due to a student's level of motivation?

26. For the students on your caseload, how many were impacted in regards to the AMOUNT OF TIME intervention is provided due to a need for peer modeling?

27. For the students on your caseload, how many were impacted in regards to the PLACE intervention is provided due to a need for peer modeling?

Section II: Time

28. Please select the top consideration in regards to the child's characteristics when deciding the AMOUNT OF TIME to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

 The child's communication needs in relation to his/her general education curriculum.
 The nature and severity of the child's disorder.
 The child's strengths, needs, and emerging abilities.
 The motivation and attitude of the child.
 The child's age and developmental level.
 The need for peer modeling.

29. Please select the top consideration in regards to the workplace characteristics when deciding the AMOUNT OF TIME to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

- _____ Caseload size
- _____ Administrative support
- _____ Workload size
- Team Input

30. Please select the top consideration from the following when deciding the AMOUNT OF TIME to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

- _____ Relationship with school personnel
- _____ Clinical training
- Years worked
 - Professional development

31. Please select the top THREE considerations from the following when deciding the AMOUNT OF TIME to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

 Caseload size
 Relationship with school personnel
 The child's communication needs in relation to his/her general education curriculum.
 The nature and severity of the child's disorder.
 The child's strengths, needs, and emerging abilities.
 The child's age and developmental level.
 Team Input
 Administrative support
 The need for peer modeling.
 Years worked
 The motivation and attitude of the child.
 Professional development
 Workload size
 Clinical training

Grade Level	1 time a week for 20-30 min.	2-3 times a week for 20-30 min.	1 time a week for 45-60 min.	2 or more times a week for 45-60 min.	*Block Scheduling	Consultation	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
PreK								
K								
1 st								
2^{nd}								
3^{rd}								
4^{th}								
5^{th}								
Middle								
School/								
Junior High								
High								
School								
*Block scher	dulino is defin	ied as when the	ehild is seen	4 to 5 times a	week for 3 to 1	S weeks followe	d hv a hreak fr	or the same

â amount of time.

33 . For the following grades, please select the time that you or your assistant deliver intervention for the child on your caseload	with a MODERATE DISABILITY in each of the grade levels. Please provide answers ONLY for those grades represented on	your caseload.
---	---	----------------

Grade Level	1 time a week for 20-30 min.	2-3 times a week for 20-30 min.	1 time a week for 45-60 min.	2 or more times a week for 45-60 min.	*Block Scheduling	Consultation	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
PreK								
K								
1 st								
2^{nd}								
3^{rd}								
4^{th}								
5 th								
Middle								
School/								
Junior High								
High								
School								
*Block sched	uling is define	ed as when the	child is seen	t to 5 times a v	week for 3 to 6	weeks followed	by a break for	r the same

amount of time.

pllowing grades, please select the time that you or your assistant deliver intervention for the child on your caseload	ST SEVERE DISABILITY in each of the grade levels. Please provide answers ONLY for those grades	n your caseload.
4. For the following gra	ith the LEAST SEVER	presented on your case

Grade Level	1 time a week for 20-30 min.	2-3 times a week for 20-30 min.	1 time a week for 45-60 min.	2 or more times a week for 45-60 min.	*Block Scheduling	Consultation	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
PreK								
K								
1 st								
2^{nd}								
$3^{ m rd}$								
4^{th}								
5^{th}								
Middle								
School/								
Junior High								
High								
School								
*Block sched	uling is define	ed as when the	child is seen 4	t to 5 times a v	week for 3 to 6	weeks followed	I by a break for	r the same

by : amount of time. 35. For each of the following disabilities please select the time that you or your assistant deliver intervention for the child on your caseload with the MOST SEVERE DISABILITY Please answer for ONLY those disabilities represented on your caseload.

Disability	1 time a week for 20-30 min.	2-3 times a week for 20-30 min.	1 time a week for 45-60 min.	2 or more times a week for 45-60 min.	*Block Scheduling	Consultation	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
Artic/ phon disorder								
Autism/ PDD								
Prag/ Social								
Learning disability								
Mental								
retardation/								
developmental								
disability								
(MR/DD)								
Nonverbal/								
Reading and								
writing								
(literacy)								
Specific								
language								
impairmnt								
(SLI)								
*Block schedu	uling is defined	d as when the o	child is seen 4	to 5 times a v	veek for 3 to 6	weeks followed	by a break fo	r the same
amount of time	e.							

Disability	1 time a week for 20-30 min.	2-3 times a week for 20-30 min.	1 time a week for 45-60 min.	2 or more times a week for 45-60 min.	*Block Scheduling	Consultation	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
Artic/ phon disorder								
Autism/ PDD								
Prag/ Social								
Learning disability								
Mental								
retardation/								
developmental								
(MR/DD)								
Nonverbal/								
AAC								
Reading and								
writing								
(literacy)								
Specific								
language								
impairmnt								
(SLI)								
*Block schedu	ling is defined	d as when the c	child is seen 4	to 5 times a v	veek for 3 to 6	weeks followed	by a break fo	r the same
amount of time								

36. For each of the following disabilities please select the time that you or your assistant deliver intervention for the child on your caseload with a MODERATE DISABILITY. Please answer for ONLY those disabilities represented on your caseload.

37. For each of the following disabilities please select the time that you or your assistant deliver intervention for the child on your caseload with the LEAST SEVERE DISABILITY. Please answer for ONLY those disabilities represented on your caseload.

Disability	1 time a week for 20-30 min.	2-3 times a week for 20-30 min.	1 time a week for 45-60 min.	2 or more times a week for 45-60 min.	*Block Scheduling	Consultation	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
Artic/ phop disorder								
Autism/ PDD								
Prag/ Social								
Learning disability								
Mental								
retardation/								
developmental								
disability								
(MR/DD)								
Nonverbal/ AAC								
Reading and								
writing								
(literacy)								
Specific								
language								
impairmnt								
(SLI)								
*Block schedu	uling is define	d as when the a	child is seen 4	to 5 times a v	veek for 3 to 6	weeks followed	by a break fo	r the same
amount of time	e.							

Section III: Place

38. Please select the top consideration in regards to the child's characteristics when deciding WHERE to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

- _____ The child's communication needs in relation to his/her general education curriculum.
- _____ The nature and severity of the child's disorder.
- _____ The child's strengths, needs, and emerging abilities.
- _____ The motivation and attitude of the child.
- _____ The child's age and developmental level.
- _____ The need for peer modeling.

39. Please select the top consideration in regards to the workplace characteristics when deciding the PLACE to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

- _____ Caseload size
- _____ Administrative support
- _____ Workload size
- _____ Team Input

40. Please select the top consideration from the following when deciding the PLACE to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

- _____ Relationship with school personnel
- _____ Clinical training
- _____Years worked
 - _____ Professional development

41. Please select the top THREE considerations from the following when deciding the PLACE to provide intervention for students on your caseload.

 Caseload size
 Relationship with school personnel
 The child's communication needs in relation to his/her general education curriculum.
 The nature and severity of the child's disorder.
 The child's strengths, needs, and emerging abilities.
 The child's age and developmental level.
 Team Input
 Administrative support
 The need for peer modeling.
 Years worked
 The motivation and attitude of the child.
 Professional development
 Workload size
 Clinical training

42. For the foll SEVERE DIS/ Please provide	owing grades, pl ABILITY in each answers ONLY	lease select the p 1 of the grade lev for those grades	lace that you or els. represented on y	your assistant pr your caseload.	ovide interventio	on for the child v	vith a
Definitions: Outside the Cl ⁸ self-contained (assroom: Providi classroom or res	ng students inter ource room (e.g.	vention in a plac , the SLP's offic	ce that is not in t te or classroom, t	he general educa the hallway, or a	tion classroom l conference rooi	out is not a n)
In the Classroo being complete class).	m: Providing stu d by their peers	idents interventio as well as occurr	on within the gen ing in the same	aeral education c area of the room	lassroom and in as their peers (r	conjunction wit lot at a table awa	h the activities ay from the
Grade Level	1-on-1 Outside the Classroom	Group Outside the Classroom	Self- contained Classroom	In the Classroom	Resource Room	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
PreK							
K							
1 st							
$2^{ m nd}$							
$3^{ m rd}$							
4^{th}							
5^{th}							
Middle							
School/							
Junior High							
High School							

43. For the foll MODERATE I Please provide	owing grades, pl DISABILITY in answers ONLY	ease select the p each of the grad for those grades	lace that you or e levels. represented on y	your assistant pr /our caseload.	ovide interventi	on for the child	vith a
Definitions: Outside the Cla self-contained (ussroom: Providi classroom or rest	ng students inter ource room (e.g.	vention in a plac , the SLP's offic	ce that is not in the or classroom, the order of the order	he general educa the hallway, or a	ttion classroom	out is not a n)
In the Classroo being complete class completin	m: Providing stu d by their peers ig differing activ	ldents intervention as well as occurr ities as his/her p	on within the ger ing in the same eers).	neral education c area of the room	lassroom and in as their peers (r	conjunction wit not at a table aw	h the activities ay from the
Grade Level	1-on-1 Outside the Classroom	Group Outside the Classroom	Self- contained Classroom	In the Classroom	Resource Room	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
PreK							
K							
1^{st}							
2^{nd}							
$3^{ m rd}$							
4^{th}							
5^{th}							
Middle							
School/							
Junior High							
High School							

44. For the foll LEAST SEVEJ your caseload.	owing grades, pl RE DISABILITY	ease select the p \vec{r} in each of the g	lace that you or grade levels. Ple	your assistant pr ase provide answ	ovide interventio vers ONLY for th	on for the child v hose grades repr	vith the esented on
Definitions: Outside the Cla self-contained (assroom: Providin classroom or resc	ng students inter ource room (e.g.,	vention in a plac , the SLP's offic	e that is not in the or classroom, t	he general educa the hallway, or a	tion classroom l conference rooi	out is not a n)
In the Classroo being complete class).	m: Providing stu d by their peers a	idents interventic as well as occurr	on within the ger ing in the same	neral education c area of the room	lassroom and in as their peers (n	conjunction wit tot at a table awa	h the activities ay from the
Grade Level	1-on-1 Outside the Classroom	Group Outside the Classroom	Self- contained Classroom	In the Classroom	Resource Room	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
PreK							
K							
1 st							
$2^{ m nd}$							
$3^{ m rd}$							
4^{th}							
$\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{th}}$							
Middle							
School/							
Junior High							
High School							

45. For each of the follow your caseload with the MC your caseload.	ing disabilities DST SEVERE	please select tl DISABILITY	he place that you listed below. Ple.	or your assist ase answer for	ant deliver inte ONLY those	ervention for disabilities r	the child on epresented on
Definitions: Outside the Classroom: Pr self-contained classroom o	oviding studer or resource roo	nts intervention m (e.g., the SL	in a place that is P's office or clas	not in the gen sroom, the hal	leral education lway, or a con	classroom l	ut is not a n)
In the Classroom: Providin being completed by their r class).	ng students int peers as well a	ervention withi s occurring in th	n the general edu he same area of t	cation classro he room as the	om and in con sir peers (not a	junction wit t a table awa	n the activities y from the
Grade Level	1-on-1 Outside the Classroom	Group Outside the Classroom	Self- contained Classroom	In the Classroom	Resource Room	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
Artic/ phon disorder							
Autism/ PDD							
Prag/ Social							
Learning disability							
Mental retardation/							
developmental disability (MR/DD)							
Nonverbal/ AAC							
Reading and writing (literacy)							
Specific language impairmnt (SLI)							

46. For each of the followi your caseload with a MOI caseload.	ing disabilities DERATE DIS/	please select tl ABILITY listed	he place that you I below. Please a	or your assist aswer for ONI	ant deliver inte Y those disab	ervention for ilities repres	the child on ented on your
Definitions: Outside the Classroom: Pr self-contained classroom o	oviding studer	nts intervention m (e.g., the SL	in a place that is P's office or clas	not in the gen sroom, the hal	teral education	. classroom ł	ut is not a n)
In the Classroom: Providin being completed by their p class).	ng students int peers as well a	ervention withi s occurring as i	n the general edu n the same area c	cation classro of the room as	om and in con their peers (no	junction wit et at a table a	a the activities way from the
Grade Level	1-on-1 Outside the Classroom	Group Outside the Classroom	Self- contained Classroom	In the Classroom	Resource Room	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
Artic/ phon disorder							
Autism/ PDD							
Prag/ Social							
Learning disability							
Mental retardation/							
developmental disability (MR/DD)							
Nonverbal/ AAC							
Reading and writing (literacy)							
Specific language impairmnt (SLI)							

47. For each of the following your caseload with the LE on your caseload.	ing disabilities AST SEVERI	s please select th E DISABILITY	he place that you listed below. Pl	or your assist ase answer fo	ant deliver inte r ONLY those	ervention for disabilities	the child on represented
Definitions: Outside the Classroom: Pr self-contained classroom o	roviding studer or resource roc	ats intervention om (e.g., the SL	in a place that is P's office or clas	not in the gen sroom, the hal	teral education	t classroom l	out is not a n)
In the Classroom: Providin being completed by their p class).	ng students int peers as well a	ervention withi s occurring in th	n the general edu he same area of t	ication classro he room as the	om and in con sir peers (not a	junction wit t a table awa	h the activities ly from the
Grade Level	1-on-1 Outside the Classroom	Group Outside the Classroom	Self- contained Classroom	In the Classroom	Resource Room	Other	No Child in this Grade on Caseload
Artic/ phon disorder							
Autism/ PDD							
Prag/ Social							
Learning disability							
Mental retardation/							
developmental disability (MR/DD)							
Nonverbal/ AAC							
Reading and writing (literacy)							
Specific language impairmnt (SLI)							

48. Would you be willing to complete a brief (15-20 minutes) phone interview to elaborate on some of the answers you provided in the above questionnaire?

 $\Box \quad Yes \\ \Box \quad No$

If yes, please indicate the best way to contact you to schedule the interview (e.g., phone number and/or email address)

Thank you very much for taking the time to complete the questionnaire.

_ ·

Email Interview Questions

1. Please review the following question from the online survey which you completed and then provide feedback regarding your answer.

Please indicate any of the following types of professional development which you have completed in the last 5 years NOT including graduate training.

- □ Read journals
- \Box Attended state conference(s)
- Attended national conference(s)
- \Box Attended seminar
- \Box Completed college course
- □ District training
- \Box On-line programs
- □ Teleseminars

Could you tell me the items you selected?

What topics did they pertain to and how did it relate to your job?

What were the motivating factors for you choosing these activities?

2. As an SLP, there are many factors that impact the type of services you provide students on your caseload. On the survey, three categories of factors were identified: child, workplace and SLP. The items in each of these are listed below as well as additional questions asking you to explain your answers in more detail.

Child Factors

- Child's communication needs
- Nature and severity of the child's disorder
- Child's strengths, needs and emerging abilities
- Child's motivation and attitude
- Child's age and developmental level
- Child's need for peer modeling

Workplace Factors

- Caseload size
- Administrative support
- Workload size
- Team input

SLP Factors

- SLP's relationship with school personnel
- SLP's clinical training
- Number of years the SLP worked in the public schools
- SLP's professional development

The results of the current study indicated that SLPs report the 3 most important factors in deciding the AMOUNT OF TIME that children participate in intervention as being (1) the nature and severity of the child's disorder (2) the child's communication needs and (3) the child's strengths and needs. However, when looking at the AMOUNT OF TIME that students across different grades and disabilities participated in intervention there were few differences across severity levels. Overall, children were seen 2-3 times a week for 20-30 minutes regardless of their grade, disability and severity level.

How would you explain this finding?

Do other factors not listed above impede your ability to provide intervention? If so, what are these factors?

How often do these other factors impact your ability to provide intervention?

3. As an SLP, there are many factors that impact the type of services you provide students on your caseload. On the survey, three categories of factors were identified: child, workplace and SLP. The items in each of these are listed below as well as additional questions asking you to explain your answers in more detail.

Child Factors

- Child's communication needs
- Nature and severity of the child's disorder
- Child's strengths, needs and emerging abilities
- Child's motivation and attitude
- Child's age and developmental level
- Child's need for peer modeling

- Workplace Factors
- Caseload size
- Administrative support
- Workload size
- Team input

SLP Factors

- SLP's relationship with school personnel
- SLP's clinical training
- Number of years the SLP worked in the public schools
- SLP's professional development

The results of the current study indicated that SLPs report the 3 most important factors in deciding the PLACE in which children participate in intervention as being (1) the nature and severity of the child's disorder (2) the child's communication needs and (3) the child's strengths and needs. However, when looking at the PLACE that students across different grades and disabilities participated in intervention there was little variation across severity levels. Overall, children were seen in groups outside of the classroom.

How would you explain this finding?

Do other factors impede your ability to provide intervention? If so, what are these factors?

How often do these other factors impact your ability to provide intervention?

4. The following questions pertain to your supervisor.

What is the job title of the person who supervises you and does he/she observe you providing intervention during the school year?

If your supervisor does not observe you, is there a person within your school district or educational service center who does observe you providing intervention or conducting assessments each school year (e.g., the school principal, the special education director, or another SLP)?

What types of observations do they conduct?

How often are you observed?

What type of feedback do you receive?

Could you give me some specific examples of how these observations have improved your ability to provide intervention effectively?

5. Recent changes in IDEA and NCLB have affected schools greatly and how school personnel interact. Could you describe your role within the school now?

Has your role in the school changed? If so, how?

Please briefly explain your district's use of Response to Intervention (RTI) and your role within that process.

What affect has Response to Intervention (RTI) had on your workload?

Appendix D

HSCL Approval

4/24/2008 HSCL #17352

Jayne Brandel Speech-Language-Hearing 3001 Dole Center

The Human Subjects Committee Lawrence reviewed your research update application for project

17352 Brandel/Loeb (SPLH) A Survey of Speech-Language Services in Public Schools

and approved this project under the expedited procedure provided in 45 CFR 46.110 (f) (7) Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies. As described, the project complies with all the requirements and policies established by the University for protection of human subjects in research. Unless renewed, approval lapses one year after approval date.

Since your research presents no risk to participants and involves no procedures for which written consent is normally required outside of the research context HSCL may waive the requirement for a signed consent form (45 CFR 46.117 (c) (2). Your information statement meets HSCL requirements. The Office for Human Research Protections requires that your information statement must include the note of HSCL approval and expiration date, which has been entered on the form sent back to you with this approval.

- 1. At designated intervals until the project is completed, a Project Status Report must be returned to the HSCL office.
- 2. Any significant change in the experimental procedure as described should be reviewed by this Committee prior to altering the project.
- 3. Notify HSCL about any new investigators not named in original application. Note that new investigators must take the online tutorial at http://www.rcr.ku.edu/hscl/hsp tutorial/000.shtml.
- 4. Any injury to a subject because of the research procedure must be reported to the
- Committee immediately.5. When signed consent documents are required, the primary investigator must retain the

signed consent documents for at least three years past completion of the research activity. If you use a

- signed consent form, provide a copy of the consent form to subjects at the time of consent.
- 6. If this is a funded project, keep a copy of this approval letter with your proposal/grant file.

Please inform HSCL when this project is terminated. You must also provide HSCL with an annual status report to maintain HSCL approval. Unless renewed, approval lapses one year after approval date. If your project receives funding which requests an annual update approval, you must request this from HSCL one month prior to the annual update. Thanks for your cooperation. If you have any questions, please contact me.

Sincerely,

David Hann HSCL Coordinator

cc: Diane Loeb

Invitation to Participate

To: [Email]

From: jbrandel@ku.edu

Subject: Invitation to participate

Body: April 16, 2008

My name is Jayne Brandel, and I am a doctoral student at the University of Kansas. Before returning to study for a doctoral degree, I worked as an SLP in the public schools for two years. As a school speech-language pathologist, there are many demands upon your time and skills. My dissertation is focusing on these demands and how they impact service delivery. I hope that you can take ten to fifteen minutes from your busy schedule to help me.

I would greatly appreciate your response to the questionnaire that is linked to this email. Your name will not be associated with publication or reporting of these data. It is possible, however, with internet communications, that through intent or accident someone other than the intended recipient may see your response. Your answers will provide us with insight into your service delivery choices. Please connect to the link: <u>http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx</u> to complete my questionnaire. By doing so, you are agreeing to participate.

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Human Subjects Committee Lawrence Campus (HSCL) office at 785-864-7429 or 785-864-7385 or write the Human Subjects Committee Lawrence Campus (HSCL), University of Kansas, 2385 Irving Hill Road, Lawrence, Kansas 66045-7563, email dhann@ku.edu or mdenning@ku.edu.

During the course of this questionnaire, you will be asked questions regarding the composition of your caseload. Please have this information readily available. If you do not wish to receive further emails from us, please click the link below, and you will be automatically removed from our mailing list. http://www.surveymonkey.com/optout.aspx

Thank you! Jayne Brandel, M.A., CCC-SLP jbrandel@ku.edu 785-864-0658

Faculty Supervisor: Diane Frome Loeb, Ph.D., CCC-SLP dianelo@ku.edu 785-864-0638

Second Reminder

To: [Email]

From: jbrandel@ku.edu

Subject: School Intervention Survey

Body: My name is Jayne Brandel, and I recently sent you an email requesting your assistance on my dissertation. I am a doctoral student at the University of Kansas. Before returning to study for a doctoral degree, I worked as an SLP in the public schools for two years. As a school speech-language pathologist, there are many demands upon your time and skills. My dissertation is focusing on these demands and how they impact service delivery. I hope that you can take ten to fifteen minutes from your busy schedule to help me.

I would greatly appreciate your response to the questionnaire that is linked to this email. Your name will not be associated with publication or reporting of these data. It is possible, however, with internet communications, that through intent or accident someone other than the intended recipient may see your response. Your answers will provide us with insight into your service delivery choices. Please connect to the link: <u>http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx</u>to complete my questionnaire. By doing so, you are agreeing to participate.

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant you may contact the Human Subjects Committee Lawrence Campus (HSCL) office at 864-7429 or 864-7385 or write the Human Subjects Committee Lawrence Campus (HSCL), University of Kansas, 2385 Irving Hill Road, Lawrence, Kansas 66045-7563, email dhann@ku.edu or mdenning@ku.edu.

During the course of this questionnaire, you will be asked questions regarding the composition of your caseload. Please have this information readily available. If you do not wish to receive further emails from us, please click the link below, and you will be automatically removed from our mailing list. http://www.surveymonkey.com/optout.aspx

Thank you! Jayne Brandel, M.A., CCC-SLP jbrandel@ku.edu 785-864-0658

Faculty Supervisor: Diane Frome Loeb, Ph.D., CCC-SLP dianelo@ku.edu 785-864-0638 Final Reminder

To: [Email]

From: jbrandel@ku.edu

Subject: Please complete by May 23rd

Body: May 18, 2008

My name is Jayne Brandel, and I am a doctoral student at the University of Kansas. Before returning to study for a doctoral degree, I worked as an SLP in the public schools for two years. As a school speech-language pathologist, there are many demands upon your time and skills. My dissertation is focusing on these demands and how they impact service delivery. I hope that you can take ten to fifteen minutes from your busy schedule to help me. I will not be gathering data after Friday, May 23rd because the school year will be ending for many of you.

I would greatly appreciate your response to the questionnaire that is linked to this email. Your name will not be associated with publication or reporting of these data. It is possible, however, with internet communications, that through intent or accident someone other than the intended recipient may see your response. Your answers will provide us with insight into your service delivery choices. Please connect to the link: <u>http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx</u> to complete my questionnaire. By doing so, you are agreeing to participate.

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Human Subjects Committee Lawrence Campus (HSCL) office at 785-864-7429 or 785-864-7385 or write the Human Subjects Committee Lawrence Campus (HSCL), University of Kansas, 2385 Irving Hill Road, Lawrence, Kansas 66045-7563, email dhann@ku.edu or mdenning@ku.edu.

During the course of this questionnaire, you will be asked questions regarding the composition of your caseload. Please have this information readily available. If you do not wish to receive further emails from us, please click the link below, and you will be automatically removed from our mailing list. http://www.surveymonkey.com/optout.aspx

Thank you! Jayne Brandel, M.A., CCC-SLP jbrandel@ku.edu 785-864-0658

Faculty Supervisor: Diane Frome Loeb, Ph.D., CCC-SLP dianelo@ku.edu 785-864-0638 further emails from us, please click the link below, and you will be automatically removed from our mailing list. http://www.surveymonkey.com/optout.aspx